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Monday, December 6, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today regarding an application by Hydro One Brampton Networks for the establishment of distribution rates for 2011.

The Board had assigned docket number EB-2010-0132.  My name is Paula Conboy, and I will be presiding member in this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel is Board member Cathy Spoel.

This application was filed on June 30th, 2010.  To date, the Board has established two rounds of discovery, which included one round of written interrogatories and a technical conference.  Flowing from the technical conference there were 22 undertaking responses filed by the applicant.

The Board convened a settlement conference on October 19th.  No settlement was achieved on any of the issues.

On November 17th, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 4 setting out a list of issues to be examined at this oral hearing.

Before we address certain preliminary matters that the Board has, may I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, I am Michael Engelberg, counsel for Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc.  With me to my left is Ian Innis of Hydro One, senior regulatory advisor.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Jay Shepherd on behalf of School Energy Coalition.  With me is Mark Rubenstein, a student in my office.  With the Board's consent, he will conduct some of our cross-examination.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for Energy Probe.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Good morning.  David MacIntosh, consultant for Energy Probe.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And representing Board Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, Madam Chair.  I am joined today by Vince Cooney to my left; Silvan Cheung; Duncan Skinner, who will be asking some of the questions on PILs-related issues; and Mr. Ted Antonopoulos is here, as well.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  There are two preliminary matters the Board would like to address.

First, given the extensiveness of the record to date and the opportunity that parties have had to test the applicant's evidence, it is the Board's expectation, as outlined in Procedural Order No. 4, that parties focus their examination on the issues identified in Procedural Order No. 4.

With respect to the review and disposition of account 1562 specifically, the Board would appreciate parties' cooperation in maintaining a focussed examination.  The Panel understands that Staff will be limiting its cross-examination to two issues.

As noted in the October 19th letter, in which the Board decided to proceed with hearing that part of Hydro One Brampton's application dealing with this account 1562, the Board has not yet determined whether the circumstances in this proceeding are sufficiently different than the combined proceeding that has a docket number EB-2008-0381.

After hearing the evidence, one of the decisions that this Panel will have to make is whether to proceed to dispose of this account at all, given that there is a combined proceeding under way that is intended to result in a common methodology for the remaining distributors to dispose of in their respective accounts.

When filing their final arguments in this case, the Panel would appreciate any thoughts that parties may have on whether the Board should proceed to dispose of this account, and of course, if so, how that disposition should be accomplished.

Second, the applicant has requested an effective date of January 1st, 2011.  Given the timing of this oral hearing, it will not be possible to issue a final rate order in time for January 1st.  So subject to any objections, this Panel is prepared to declare the current rates interim as of January 1st, 2011.

This does not mean that Hydro One Brampton will receive approval of their final rates effective that date, but, rather, the Board will have the flexibility to go back to that date, if it chooses to do so.

The Board will expect parties to include their positions, with reasons, on the appropriate effective date in their final arguments.

Does anybody have any questions?

The Board, therefore, orders that Hydro One Brampton's current tariff of rates and charges is interim effective January 1st, 2011.

That said, I would like to canvass parties to get a sense of how much time they would need for their examinations, including how much time specifically they will need for account 1562.

Mr. Millar, I understand you have spoken with the intervenors?

MR. MILLAR:  I have, Madam Chair.  We hadn't broken it down 1562 versus the other accounts, so you may wish to speak with them, but I can advise, from Board Staff's perspective, we will be probably a bit more than an hour in total, up to an hour-and-a-half, and perhaps 45 minutes of that will be related to account 1562.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, our cross-examination will be at least 30 minutes, and probably more like an hour or an hour-and-a-half.  We do not expect to be dealing with account 1562, but we are going last, so if there are items that arise during the cross-examinations of others, we may be asked to pick them up.

MS. CONBOY:  Certainly.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  In total, I have a very rough estimate of around two hours for my cross, depending on what happens before me.  I think I am going second.

And on 1562, I don't have any cross that I can find.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Madam Chair, I expect to be between two and three hours, and I will not have anything on account 1562.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Aiken.

Are there any other preliminary matters that need to be addressed?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have a couple of preliminary matters, Madam Chair.

First of all, I wanted to state that there will be a very, very short - perhaps ten minutes - direct examination of one of the witnesses on the panel, simply to make it clear exactly what it is Hydro One Brampton is asking for in this proceeding.

Then I would like to introduce all of the members of the witness panel and go through their CVs briefly.  And as is my custom, I would like to ask the Board's permission to speak to the witnesses during the course of the hearing, although they're under cross-examination.  In administrative cases like this, it is routine to permit counsel that indulgence, and I undertake not to abuse the privilege.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we have one preliminary matter, or I have one preliminary matter.  As the Board is aware, OPG final argument is due today.

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so with the Board's consent, I will withdraw after we finish the direct examination and go try to finish that.

I will be back when Mr. Rubenstein does his cross and for my own cross later in the day or tomorrow morning.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay, Mr. Engelberg, would you like to call your witness panel, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  To my left, furthest from the Panel, is Mr. Dan Gapic, and to his left is Jamie Gribbon.  To his left is Scott Miller, and closest to the Panel is Aldo Mastrofrancesco.  And if I can perhaps go through their CVs?

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Engelberg, before you proceed with that, if Ms. Spoel could swear in the witnesses?
HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

Dan Gapic, Sworn


Jamie Gribbon, Sworn


Aldo Mastrofrancesco, Sworn


Scott Miller, Sworn

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  You may proceed.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Gapic, if I could begin with you, could you tell me, first of all, have you ever appeared before this Board as a witness?

MR. GAPIC:  No, I haven't.

MR. ENGELBERG:  It's your first time.  Could you tell me how long you have been with Hydro One Brampton?

MR. GAPIC:  I have been with Hydro One Brampton for approximately 13 months.

MR. ENGELBERG:  What is your position with the utility?

MR. GAPIC:  I am the supervisor of regulatory affairs.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And could you briefly highlight your experience before coming to Hydro One Brampton?

MR. GAPIC:  Prior to Hydro One Brampton, I was with Horizon Utilities Corporation as a manager of rates and PBR.  I was there from 1995 -- actually, 2001 to 2009 in that capacity.

And prior to that, I was with Horizon through the -- one of the merged utilities, Stoney Creek Hydro, as accounting supervisor from 1995 to 2000.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Gribbon, what is your position with Brampton?

MR. GRIBBON:  I am vice-president of finance and administration.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How long have you been there?

MR. GRIBBON:  I have been there just over 11 years.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And what is your experience prior to being at Brampton?

MR. GRIBBON:  Prior to being at Brampton, I was manager of finance and customer service at Halton Hills Hydro for four years.  And prior to that, I spent roughly eight years with Ontario Hydro as municipal accountant.

Prior to that, I spent about seven years in public accounting.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  And have you ever been a witness before this Board?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, I have not.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

Next, Mr. Miller.  Could you state your position with Brampton?

MR. MILLER:  Sure.  I am the regulatory affairs manager at Hydro One Brampton.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How long have you been with Brampton?

MR. MILLER:  I have been with Brampton for a little over 24 years.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you have any experience before then?

MR. MILLER:  I do.  I have appeared in front of the Board pertaining to a smart meter application, and also to a conservation demand management plan.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.  Next, Mr. Mastrofrancesco.  What is your position with Brampton?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  My position at Brampton is manager of engineering.

MR. ENGELBERG:  How long have you been with the utility?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Approximately 16 months.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And could you tell us your experience before then?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I spent two years with the Electrical Safety Authority in the utility regulations group, and before that, I was with Enersource Hydro Mississauga for approximately seven years.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Have you ever appeared as a witness before this Board?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No, I have not.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much.

Those are my questions.  And subject to the leave of the Board, I would like to go to the direct examination.

MS. CONBOY:  Please.

MR. ENGELBERG:  These questions will be directed to Mr. Gribbon only.

Mr. Gribbon, I would like to refer you to appendix A of the November 8th letter sent by Hydro One Brampton to the Board.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Engelberg, we are just hunting around looking for it.  Not sure where we find that particular document in the large number of binders of material that have been filed in this case.  Perhaps someone can help us, or maybe somebody has a copy of it handy that we could borrow.

MR. MILLER:  If it pleases the Board, we have copies here.

MS. SPOEL:  Could we borrow one?

MS. CONBOY:  That would be helpful.

MS. SPOEL:  Otherwise we might be all day at this, looking for a piece of paper.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Gribbon, my understanding is that Hydro One Brampton filed its rate application before the Board today on June 30th, under IFRS, and that this appendix A was appended to a November 8th letter from Brampton to the Board.

Could you tell me what the purpose of this appendix is?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  I would like to note that there are two additional lines on the bottom of what's been handed out, but everything else on the appendix A is identical.

MS. CONBOY:  Excuse me, Mr. Gribbon.  I will just interrupt you there for a minute, please.

If there is new information to what was filed from the letter, should we be giving this an exhibit number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm sorry, Mr. Engelberg, is this an exact copy of the November 8th letter, or this includes updates?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  My understanding is the two lines at the very bottom are new.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  So this is a document the Board hasn't seen until now?

MR. ENGELBERG:  The chart, the Board has seen, but the two documents at the bottom, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will give it an exhibit number.  It will be Exhibit K1.1, and that is an update to Exhibit A from the November 8th letter; is that correct?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  UPDATE TO EXHIBIT A FROM THE NOVEMBER 8TH LETTER FROM HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON TO THE OEB.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, I see you moving for your button.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, is the information on the last two lines, is it in the record already?  Because if it is not, you would not normally expect it to be filed at the beginning of the oral hearing.  I mean, if it is just for convenience, that's fine, but if it is new --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, my understanding is that it could have been done two ways, in evidence.  Mr. Gribbon would have provided the information in the bottom two lines.  The chart, as I say, all of the other numbers were as filed on November 8th, and if you prefer, Mr. Gribbon can be asked either in direct or in cross-examination about the bottom two lines that have been added.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with the greatest of respect to my friend, if this is the first we have heard of an increase of $1.7 million of capital expenditures, then that, it seems to me, is improper, whether it is in a document or it is in oral evidence.

We should have heard about this when it was first known.  If it is -- as I say, if it is already in the evidence, that is a different story.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can we perhaps ask the witness about this?

MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can you provide us with that explanation of the bottom two lines, Mr. Gribbon?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  The bottom two lines on there is really a summary of what has been submitted to date.  And it's intended to do just that, provide a summary of all of the changes from June 30th to date for capital expenditures.  And the other line relates to the cost-of-capital change that was issued by the Board on November 15th.  That is an estimate of the impact on the revenue requirement, because of that.

And that has not been submitted to the Board at any time.  It is an estimate of what we expect the impact to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Madam Chair, if I understand the witness correctly, this number of $22.7 million on the second-last line can be calculated from material in the evidence, but we don't have a summary anywhere except here.

Do we have a breakdown of that number?  Is it in the evidence somewhere?  I mean, I can deal with this in cross, as long as it is not new.  If it is new, then I would like to have some time.  If it is not new, I'm fine.

MR. GRIBBON:  We have not supplied a breakdown of that number.  However, it is a product of the changes since June 30th, which is all on record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Gribbon, could you continue with -


MS. CONBOY:  Microphone please, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Gribbon, could you continue with -- I believe you were informing us what the purpose was of the November 8th letter to the Board, and the appendix.

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  We felt that this was a good summary of the changes to date, and as Madam Chair has pointed out, there have been a number of changes since the original filing of June 30th.

The September change related to the removal of IFRS and the addition of OMERS cost increases announced in July, and then in October, again, changes as a result of the Technical Conference.

And then we updated information on November 8th, which -- this appendix A was part of that update.

So let --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Gribbon.

That brings us to today.  Can you summarize what it is that Hydro One Brampton is asking the Board to approve?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  In summary, the revenue requirement that we're asking the Board to approve is $62.8 million.  And that includes a revenue deficiency of 0.1 million.  OM&A we're requesting $22 million -- $22.2 million to be approved, capital expenditures $22.7 million, and a rate base of $331 million.

We are also asking for the disposition of regulatory balances of $6.5 million, and we are requesting to establish variance and deferral accounts for various purposes, and, as Madam Chair pointed out, a rate implementation date effective January 1st, 2011.

Then on November 15th, the Board issued the cost of capital updates that will further reduce the revenue requirement to a revenue sufficiency position of approximately $300,000.  So, in effect, base rates will decline before we consider the recovery of regulatory balances.

I hope you find this summary useful, and we would be happy to address any questions.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Gribbon.  I have no further direct evidence.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Engelberg.

I believe that we have already established an order of cross-examination.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I was volunteered to go first.

MS. CONBOY:  Oh, lucky you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  I'm a consultant to Energy Probe in this proceeding.

I want to start off -- and for everybody's convenience, I will be talking about the November 8th letter, as well as the November 2nd letter.  So if you could have both of those in front of you, that would be beneficial.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, the November 2nd letter or the September 2nd?

MR. AIKEN:  September 2nd and November 8th.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  I want to spend some time going through the adjustments that Mr. Gribbon --


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken, sorry, could you give us a moment, please, to locate those documents?

MR. AIKEN:  Sure.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken, was there something in the content of the November letter that you were going to refer to, or are you referring simply to the table that was provided?

MR. AIKEN:  No.  It will be in the content, as well.  I will be coming back to the November 8th letter many times over the next few hours.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  We will need a few minutes, please.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. CONBOY:  We are all set, Mr. Aiken.  Thank you very much.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  I want to start and spend some time going through the adjustments that you talked about this morning, Mr. Gribbon.

The adjustments have been made since the original evidence, so that we all have a better understanding of where we are now and how we got here.  In your original filing, the revenue deficiency was identified as something in excess of $4 million, and that was shown in the revenue requirement work form in your original evidence.  There is no need to pull that up.

Then on September 2nd, 2010, Brampton sent a letter to the Board indicating changes related to the timing of the adoption of IFRS and increases in the pension plan costs, and the revenue requirement work form attached to that letter indicated the deficiency was now $182,636.00.

Pausing there for a moment, am I correct that the changes in the revenue deficiency were all related to the IFRS-related changes and did not include any impact related to the increase in pension costs that are described on pages 2 and 3 of the September 2nd letter?

MR. GRIBBON:  In the September 2nd letter, we had asked for those costs to be deferred.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So there is nothing in the revenue requirement for the pension cost increase?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Right.  And the IFRS-related changes are the three items identified on page 2 of the September 2nd letter, being expense, indirect overheads, depreciation, change in half-year rule, and gains and losses on the earlier retirement of assets; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then on October 1st, Brampton filed interrogatory responses, and in Board Staff 52 -- and this is on page 1 of the Energy Probe compendium of materials.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Aiken, I propose we mark that as an exhibit, and that will be Exhibit K1.2, which is the Energy Probe compendium.  Madam Chair, there should be copies on the dais.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM.

MS. CONBOY:  There are.  Thank you very much.

MR. AIKEN:  In Board Staff No. 52, which is at page 1 of the compendium, Staff asked Brampton to submit an updated revenue requirement work form that reflected the changes to the original application.

The work form was provided in Appendix AX to that response, and in the work form itself, the revenue deficiency increased to $337,675.00.

So was this increase from the 182-and-change in the September 2nd letter simply a more detailed analysis resulting from the IFRS deferral, or were there additional changes resulting from the changes to the interrogatories?

MR. GRIBBON:  It was a detailed adjustment that we had made that differed slightly from the high-level estimate that was provided in the September 2nd letter.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So just to confirm, there were no changes from anything that came out of any of the IR responses?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, I don't believe there were any other changes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.

Finally, we have the November 8th update letter.  The revenue requirement work form attached to that letter shows a resulting revenue deficiency of $116,379.  And I understand that the one adjustment that is being made to it is, as indicated in Exhibit K1.1 filed this morning, is a reduction of roughly $432,000 for the cost of capital; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  No.  The $432,000 has not been submitted as evidence at this point.

MR. AIKEN:  But that would be the impact on the revenue deficiency of the Board's cost of capital letter from November 15th, your current estimate?

MR. GRIBBON:  The revenue deficiency of $116,000 would move to a revenue sufficiency of in the neighbourhood of $300,000.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So it is being reduced by the $432,000?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Just while we are at the November 8th letter and the attachment, table 1 on the first page, the first section of this table, the table is split into two sections.  On the first section, the adjustments shown there are the adjustments between June, the original filing, and October 1st, is that correct, the refined numbers?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, these changes are different from the figures shown at table 1 on the second page of the September 2nd letter, and for the reasons you have identified.  The November 8th is a more detailed analysis, but they are consistent with Appendix AX from Board Staff 52; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  Just a point of clarification.  The information that was filed that reconciles to the 380K compared to the November 8th of 116, there is three main drivers associated with that, and that is the HST component, a reduction for global adjustments, and there was an add-on there for LEAP funding.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I haven't gotten to the second part of table 1 yet.  I am talking about the first part of table 1 on the November 8th letter, filed September 30th.

My question is:  Are those numbers consistent with appendix AX, that was filed in response to Board Staff 52?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  All three numbers appear on appendix A, that was submitted with that letter.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the September 2nd letter included an adjustment, IFRS-related adjustment for the gains and losses on early retirement of assets.  And then when you look at the November 8th letter, in the first part of table 1, that adjustment does not show up there, at least not labelled "Gains and adjustments", but there is an adjustment labelled "Opening fixed asset adjustments".

Are these two adjustments one and the same?

MR. GRIBBON:  I will ask Mr. Gapic to answer your question on that one.

MR. GAPIC:  Thank you, Mr. Gribbon.

In comparison of the adjustments made in the September the 2nd letter versus the adjustments shown pertaining to the October 1st revenue requirement, there are some differences.

The depreciation change in half-year rule is the same.

In the September 2nd letter, there was no adjustment for opening fixed asset items.  This was included in the November 8th filing.  It was determined that when we did a more detailed analysis of the revenue requirement and the detailed computations, that there were also impacts on the opening fixed asset additions.  With any changes to the opening fixed asset additions, there are implications to revenue requirement for the 2011 test year, as well.

So that is something that wasn't taken into consideration in the September the 2nd letter.

In relation to the indirect expensing of indirect overheads, that was changed due to more detailed information available.  In the September 2nd letter, it had been $2.9 million, and in the October 1st submission, it changed to $2.5 million.

In addition, in the September 2nd letter, there was an adjustment made for gain/loss on retirement.  And this adjustment was made incorrectly.  It wasn't required, actually, because that is not something that was relevant in the calculations.  So it was updated, and eliminated in the October 1st filing.

And lastly, in the October 1st filing, there is an adjustment made, called "Revenue at existing rates" and there is a transfer between revenue deficiency and distribution revenue, and this adjustment had been discussed quite extensively at the technical conference.

It related to a smart meter final disposition rider of 12 cents that needed to come out of the base rate, and it was transferred, then, to the revenue at existing rates.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Gapic.  That explained the distribution revenue questions I was going to ask you.

But back on the September 2nd letter, the gains/losses on early retirement, could you explain that in more detail, why that adjustment is not required?

I guess, first of all, under IFRS, were this $280,000 in losses -- net losses, I assume -- included in the revenue requirement?

MR. GRIBBON:  Sorry, can you tell me where you are referring to there?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, table 1 of the September 2nd letter, "Gains/losses on early retirement of assets".

It says:  "Potential adjustments, $280,460"?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  Under IFRS, as assets are removed from the field that aren't fully depreciated, their net book value will be expensed.

Since we're not moving to IFRS, we will maintain group accounting in 2011, and we don't recognize those assets at the time.  They're removed from the field.  They remain in the capital asset and they are depreciated over the remaining useful life.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that, and I guess my question is:  If the 280,000 was included in the revenue requirement, under IFRS, why isn't it related –- or, sorry, why isn't it removed from the revenue requirement when you move to CGAAP accounting?

MR. GRIBBON:  I will let you answer that.

I will refer that to Mr. Gapic.

MR. GAPIC:  Thank you, Mr. Gribbon.

The adjustment that was made in the September the 2nd letter pertaining to gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets, it wasn't required because of the fact that when we submitted, in our June 30th filing under IFRS, the -- this gain or loss actually wasn't in revenue requirement.

It had been mistakenly thought that it was, but upon further analysis and review, it wasn't required to be in the revenue requirement at all.  So what we put in the September 2nd letter was therefore parsed out.

That explains that difference.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So in the September 2nd letter, you thought you were removing something that was in, that you found out later wasn't actually in the revenue requirement?

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Appendix A of the November 8th letter -- and I will refer to Exhibit K1.1 that was filed this morning -- now, this is a summary of the changes for each of the adjustments made.

On the "Capital expenditure" line that you have added at the bottom, is that increase the result of moving from IFRS to CGAAP, or are there other adjustments, as well?

MR. GRIBBON:  Certainly the biggest driver is moving back to GAAP instead of IFRS.

MR. AIKEN:  Is there evidence on the record of the detailed calculations used to arrive at the figures in appendix A?  For example, are there fixed asset continuity schedules that show the calculation of the fixed asset component of rate base?  Or, as another example, calculations that show the revised income tax expense?

MR. GAPIC:  The adjustments in relation to the November 8th letter were not supported by further detailed calculations, Mr. Aiken.

They were done through the letter to give an indication of what would happen to the revenue requirement once the various adjustments in relation to PST, LEAP and GEA adjustments were made.  Because those adjustments were identified in a technical conference that they were required, we wanted to show that, you know, we agree that they should be made.  And in the letter, we indicated that, you know, what the implication would be to revenue requirement.

So in relation to the rate base, in relation to capital expenditures and OM&A, there were some slight changes.  We're talking quite insignificant.  However, there were some changes that weren't supported by further models and calculations as -- that were provided in the October 1st filing.

MR. AIKEN:  The response to Staff 52, which is at page 1 of the compendium, included not only appendix AX, but also a number of other appendices that you will see listed there, that show the impact of the changes from the original application as of October 1st.

So given the changes that have happened since then, as well as this summary of the capital expenditures and the change from the original evidence to the adjusted number now, will Brampton be providing a similar level of detail to support those figures, either through an undertaking or through a draft rate order?

MR. GAPIC:  The adjustments made in the November 8th letter will be supported by the detailed analysis, if required by the Board.  It's possible that further adjustments will be made to our revenue requirement, and those would require various models and calculations to be rerun.  And if the Board deems that the further analysis and supporting spreadsheets are required, Hydro One Brampton will submit them.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it you wouldn't be opposed to filing that level of detail as part of the draft, or the working papers for a draft rate order?

MR. GAPIC:  If so requested.

MR. AIKEN:  I am now going to move on to the area of rate base.  Moving on to the area of rate base, staying with the November 8th letter, one of the adjustments made was the removal from the revenue requirement of GEA capital expenditures in 2010 and 2011 and, my understanding, that this reduces revenue requirement by $167,967.

Am I correct that your proposal is to recover this same amount - in other words, the $167,967 - in the 2011 test year through the GEA rate adder that is also shown in the November 8th letter?

MR. GRIBBON:  Actually, the amount I believe is $163,967.  And in answer to your question, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, yes, 163.9, yes.

So you're going to recover the same amount through the rate adder in 2011 as if you would have left it in the revenue requirement.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.  The amounts received from the customer would go into a variance account.

MR. AIKEN:  That was going to be my next question.  So the difference in your current proposal from the original evidence is that there would be a variance account for the GEA expenditures?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the calculation of this rate adder is provided in the attachment to the November 8th letter, starting right after Appendix A.

If you could turn up pages 2 and 3 in the compendium, this is the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 34.  That deals with the allocation of the green energy cost between Brampton customers and provincial ratepayers.

The expansion costs are discussed on the last paragraph of the first page, where Brampton concludes that 18.75 percent of the costs should be recovered through Brampton distribution rates with the balance being allocated to provincial ratepayers; is that correct?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then on page 2 of the response, Brampton states that the renewable enabling improvement costs should all be allocated to provincial ratepayers, because there is no benefit to the Brampton customers?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That is also correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then in the second paragraph on the second page, the SCADA portion of the smart meter costs are to be forecast -- are to be shared equally between Brampton customers and provincial ratepayers; correct?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.  SCADA is part of the smart grid, but that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So all of this is summarized at the table at the bottom of that page where it shows percentages allocated for the three different types of costs.

So turning to technical conference Exhibit JT1.21 - this is pages 4 through 6 of the compendium - I see the same table.  The response then goes on to provide the analysis upon which the allocations in the table are based.

That is on pages -- from the bottom of page 1 through page 3.  Am I correct that you are asking the Board to approve the allocation of cost responsibility as you have proposed here, based on this analysis?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  We would like the Board to consider these, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you now turn to pages 7 and 8 of the compendium?  These are the -- this is technical conference Exhibits KT1.2 and 1.3.

Am I correct in assuming that the percentages we are talking about have been applied to the capital expenditure figures provided in Exhibits KT1.2 for 2010 and KT1.3 for 2011?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So subject to check, will you confirm that in 2010, 545,500 in capital additions are allocated to provincial ratepayers and $310,500 to Brampton customers, for a total of $856,000?  That is KT1.2.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Can you repeat the figures, please?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  The numbers I have written on there, $545,500 to provincial ratepayers, $310,500 to Brampton customers, for a total of $856,000.

I should explain I am not including any OM&A costs.  These are strictly capital expenditures.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I would have to calculate those numbers for you.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do that, please?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, I would.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, for the 2011 numbers shown in Exhibit KT1.3?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be undertaking J1.1, and that is to provide the totals payable or totals allocated to provincial ratepayers and to Hydro One Brampton ratepayers for green energy capital investments for 2010 and for 2011; is that right, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE TOTALS ALLOCATED TO PROVINCIAL RATEPAYERS AND TO HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON RATEPAYERS FOR GREEN ENERGY CAPITAL INVESTMENTS FOR 2010 AND FOR 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Turning to the response to Energy Probe number 16, which is found at pages 9 and 10 of the compendium, this was a response similar to Exhibits KT1.2 and 1.3.

However, there - and you won't have to do these calculations, because they're already done in those tables - the total capital expenditures and amounts allocated for provincial recovery and Brampton recovery are different.

As an example, in 2010 the capital expenditures are a 1,033,000, followed by 1,050,000.  And you will also see the provincial recovery and the net distributor costs listed there.

And those numbers appear to be different than the response provided in KT1.2 and 1.3.  Can you explain this difference to me?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I would have to take an undertaking on that, also.

MR. AIKEN:  Maybe we could add that as the second part of the first undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Aiken, for convenience, maybe we will give it a new number, if that is okay with you.  It is J1.2, and as I understand it, it is to explain the difference between the figures that appear in Energy Probe IR 16 versus the numbers that appear in KT1.2 and 1.3; is that correct?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Or it could be the difference between Energy Probe 16 and the undertaking response to No. 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, JT1.1 –- oh, yes, I'm sorry.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  EXPLAIN THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN NUMBERS IN ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY NO. 16 AND EXHIBITS KT1.2 AND KT1.3.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Could you now turn back to the November 8th letter?  I am going to be discussing the 2011 GEA rate rider application portion of that letter, which I believe starts at the fourth page in, and I have a couple of questions, clarification questions, here.

On the fourth page in, where the heading is "2011 GEA rate adder application," there is a table in the middle right that shows columns for 2010, 2011, and my first question is similar to my last question.

Why is the capital amount shown here a different number?  This is the $1,003,000 in 2010, and a million and 24,000 for 2011.

So my question here is:  Why are these figures different than either KT1.2 and 1.3 or the response to Energy Probe 16?

MR. GRIBBON:  Could you repeat the page number that you are referring to there?

MR. AIKEN:  I believe it is the fourth page in on the November 8th letter.  It is a page after appendix A.  I may have stapled mine together differently, but it is the 2011 GEA rate adder application.  It shows how the ten cents per month rate adder has been calculated.

MR. GRIBBON:  We will reconcile those numbers as part of the undertaking, if that is okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, that's fine.

I assume Mr. Millar wants a No. 3?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I am in your hands.  Well, why don't we give it another one?

So J1.3, and that is to reconcile the information at page 4 of the November 8th letter with -- I guess it would be J1.1 and Energy Probe 16.

Is that right, Mr. Aiken, or have I confused my documents?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  No, I think that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  to RECONCILE NUMBERS IN NOVEMBER 8TH LETTER WITH NUMBERS IN ENERGY PROBE INTERROGATORY NO. 16.

MR. AIKEN:  We have three sets of numbers that are all relatively similar, within, you know, a couple of hundred thousand dollars of one another.  But my question is:  Which set of these has been used in the November 8th letter that back out of the revenue requirement?  I'm assuming it is the third set, because those numbers seem to be consistent with your appendix A; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would refer that to Mr. Gapic.

MR. GAPIC:  Thank you, Mr. Gribbon.

In response to your question, the values that you refer to in the third citing in relation to the GEA adder application calculations --


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. GAPIC:  -- fourth page of the November 8th letter, and those were the values that were used in determination of the revenue requirement adjustment.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving on to the next page, where we get into the detailed calculations, the revenue requirement calculations are provided there.

Why is Brampton proposing to calculate the GEA rate rider for its customers that recovers all of the revenue requirement, rather than only the portion allocated to them?

MR. GAPIC:  I can speak to that issue.

The approach that we took to, A, calculate the -- I will call it a funding adder rather than a rate rider, the approach that we took was a revenue requirement approach, and we included all of the GEA capital for the spends to calculate the rate base.  So the spends for 2010 were used as the opening balances for 2011, so the revenue requirement could be calculated correctly.

The amounts that we included, again, I mentioned were the effectively $1 million for 2010 and about a million dollars for 2011, and by including those amounts, we have basically stripped out the full amount of the GEA spend out of the revenue requirement.

And the reason we did that is there is a fair bit of uncertainty in relation to the amounts that we're actually going to get approval for.  And due to that fact, what we're doing is calculating the full revenue requirement on those amounts, and once it is determined, the amounts of recovery that we'll get for the spends for both 2010 and 2011, we will make adjustment to the revenue requirement calculations, similarly to the way that smart meter funding adder is dealt with.

We will make adjustments, and any overage in our revenue requirement amounts will be returned to ratepayers through the variance account.

MR. AIKEN:  So are you essentially saying that you are going to have a variance account for the GEA capital expenditures in which you are going to record -- say you do spend the $2 million over this period.  You would record those expenditures, or the revenue requirement impact of those expenditures.  You would record as a credit the ten-cent-a-month rate adder that covers all of the costs that you are going to get from your customers, and then you would also record as a credit to that account any revenue you got through the provincial recovery?

MR. GAPIC:  No.  It would be the revenue requirement impact on the amount that we received through the provincial recovery.

For instance, if we recorded a million dollars, as we did in the calculations, and we received 20 percent recovery, we would go back into these revenue requirement calculations and adjust the values and recalculate the revenue requirement, and the difference between those amounts would be returned to the ratepayers.

This is actually a "good news" story the way that we have approached this, because it would mean that moneys are going back to the ratepayers, instead of Hydro One Brampton requesting the full amount as revenue requirement in our main revenue requirement calculations.  By parsing it out, it allows for any excess revenue requirement to basically be returned to ratepayers.

MR. AIKEN:  I would have considered a ratepayer benefit or a bigger benefit would be not to charge them the provincial portion in the first place.  Because aren't they going to be paying the provincial portion on their bills, as well?

MR. GAPIC:  The approach that we took is the GEA and funding and recoveries is so new in the industry that we don't have a lot of experience dealing with it.  We don't know exactly how much we are going to recover.

Once we actually have those funds and moneys, then there will be certainty in that regard and we will be able to, you know, adjust our revenue requirement accordingly and we'll know what we received.

It is almost speculative.  As you indicated, there were questions about some of the percentages that were used.  Given that, it shows that there is some experience yet to be gained, and once it is known better, then we will make adjustments to our capital spend.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide the calculation for the rate rider for the Brampton customer portion, based on your proposal?

If the Board accepted your proposal with the percentages we've discussed, what would be the rate adder for the Brampton customers?

MR. GAPIC:  Our approach is, as I indicated, that we don't have a lot of experience in relation to what we're actually going to recover.

So if we did the calculation you are suggesting, it is speculative and it is unknown that we will actually recover those amounts.

MR. AIKEN:  Why it would be speculative if the Board approved a certain portion to be recovered from Brampton customers and the remainder to be recovered from provincial ratepayers?  I'm sorry, I don't follow.

MR. GAPIC:  Again, the approach we took was that we stripped out the amounts and the allocations effectively become a moot point.  And they're not being requested anymore at this point, because we have parsed out the revenue requirement per the November 8th letter.

Because we have parsed it out, effectively those allocations aren't really required at this point.  They will be subject to further review and possibly prudency review of the costs in future.

MR. AIKEN:  But are you asking -- aside from your revenue requirement, are you asking for approval of a rate adder to recover the full costs that are being removed from the revenue requirement from Brampton's customers directly?

MR. GAPIC:  Initially.  However, that could change.

MR. AIKEN:  When would it change?  Before or after a Board decision in this case?

MR. GAPIC:  It would change once we know the actual amounts recovered and they're received.  Until they're actually received and we know the amounts recovered, there is uncertainty, and that is why we chose this approach.

MR. GRIBBON:  That is really what it comes down to, is that there is uncertainty.  So until we are sure how this is going to work --


MR. AIKEN:  I agree, sir, there is uncertainty and that is what the variance account is for.

My questions are revolving around:  Should the Brampton customers pay all of it upfront, and then get a rebate based on what are recovered from the provincial ratepayers is going to come your way, or whether the Board should direct you to recover part from customers now, part from provincial ratepayers now, with the variance account to true things up in the end, anyways?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, if I could interrupt here, my submission would be that the witnesses have answered the question several times as to how they propose to do it, and I just see no benefit in going further with it.  They're clear on the record how they propose to do this.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  I will move on --


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  -- to an even more clear area for the HST, starting with VECC Interrogatory No. 2.  This is page 11 of the compendium.  This response indicates that the 2011 OM&A and capital expenditures reflect expected actual costs and that Brampton is proposing to track the amounts in a deferral account.

So my question is this:  Do the expected actual costs referred to reflect the reduction for the elimination of the provincial sales tax?

MR. GRIBBON:  If I could just clarify what we did, hopefully that will answer your question.

We did remove the OM&A and capital savings that were left in OM&A and capital since we last met at the technical conference. There was a reduction of $100,000 to OM&A and $410,000 to capital as a result of PST savings that were not taken into account originally.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am going to get to those numbers in a few minutes, but that helps.  Thank you.

So I am assuming that, in the end, you believe all of your HST -- or, sorry, provincial sales tax savings had been removed from both capital expenditures for the last half of 2010, 2011 and OM&A for 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I assume, then, you no longer need the deferral account that you are requesting for 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  The deferral account that we currently have for 2010, there won't be any entries in that account beyond the end of 2010.

MR. AIKEN:  Right.

MR. GRIBBON:  We need that account to continue and to be disposed of at a future date, but there won't be any entries in 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  The response provided in technical conference Exhibit JT1.1 - this is page 10 of the compendium - would seem to imply that the HST savings were to be excluded in the forecast costs, but there was little evidence - this is Brampton's wording - to suggest that these savings were actually factored into the OM&A forecast.

On the capital expenditure side, it appears that the HST savings were taken into account on some purchases, but not on others.

I am taking from what you just said, Mr. Gribbon, that is correct and you have gone back and made further adjustments?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, we have.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 49, which is at page 13 of the compendium, Brampton provided an estimate of the PST included in the 2011 forecast for OM&A and capital expenditures.

These estimates are $73,000 for OM&A, as you can see in the table there, and $543,000 on capital expenditures in 2011.

Were these estimates at the time of the total PST that should have been removed from the OM&A and capital expenditure forecast, but weren't, or were these estimates of the total that should have been removed?

MR. GRIBBON:  These were estimates of the total that should have been removed.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Can you explain the difference between the figures shown for 2009 in Board Staff 49, which is at page 13 of the compendium, and the figures provided on the response to technical conference Exhibit JT1.7, which is at page 14 of the compendium?

MR. GRIBBON:  The only explanation that I can offer there is that we refined the calculation, and based on what we were able to segregate into the different categories of labour and equipment and material and other, the $86,000 and the 1,078,000 is our most recent estimate.

MR. AIKEN:  I was going to say the technical conference response is more recent than the IR response, yes.

I am going back to the November 8th letter.  At the top of the second page, there is an explanation of the changes related to the removal of the PST.

Starting with the OM&A, it states that Brampton is making a $105,000 reduction in OM&A costs.  Starting there, is this figure the total PST that was included in the OM&A forecast or an incremental amount that was removed from the original forecast?

MR. GRIBBON:  At the top of page 2, we say that the revenue requirement was reduced by $133,000, and that takes into account the $105,000 that we have just discussed, and then changes to depreciation expense and capital expenditures that would impact the revenue requirement.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I am strictly speaking about the OM&A portion, the 105,000.

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Was that an incremental amount removed from your original forecast?  In other words, did you originally remove some PST in the forecast, and then realize there should be 105,000 more, or is that 105,000 the total amount of PST that should be removed?

MR. GRIBBON:  We couldn't find evidence that PST was taken into account in really anything other than some of the capital accounts.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So this would be the total?

MR. GRIBBON:  This is the total.

MR. AIKEN:  I would take it, then, that this 105 is a further refinement on the 86,000 in that technical conference Exhibit JT1.7 that was provided?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On the capital expenditure side, the reduction in the November 8th letter indicates $411,000 in 2011 was removed.  Again, stopping there, is this figure the total PST included in the capital expenditure forecast, or an incremental amount?

MR. GRIBBON:  There were savings taken into account on the capital side.  So this is incremental to what had already been considered.

MR. AIKEN:  So then based on this $411,000 being incremental and the response to JT1.7, the 1,078,000 is a total that was removed; the $411,000 is incremental to that, or is that part of that million and 78?  I guess what I am looking for -- what is the final number of PST removed from the 2011 capital expenditures?

MR. GRIBBON:  We had originally removed some PST savings in the process of -- in the budget process.

And additionally, we removed $410,000 that wasn't taken into account.

MR. AIKEN:  My question then is:  Is the amount originally removed around 600,000?  So that the 600,000 and the incremental 410,000 gives us the 1,078,000 provided in JT1.7?

MR. GRIBBON:  That would be a fair assumption.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Once again, back on the November 8th letter, how was the 2010 capital expenditure reduction of 103,000 estimated?  Again, I am assuming this is incremental to something you removed for 2010?

MR. GRIBBON:  That would represent the savings from July 1st to December 31st that will be -- that will be realized.

MR. AIKEN:  And I am assuming that given that your capital expenditures aren't varying, I don't think, much between 2010-2011, that in the last half of 2010 you would have saved about 500,000 in PST?  Given that you're saving a million in 2011?

So my question is:  Is the 103,000 that you are now removing, is that incremental to roughly 400,000 for 2010 that you already had removed?

MR. GRIBBON:  I am having trouble following your math on that.  I'm sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  You have PST on your 2011 capital expenditures of roughly a million dollars.  That's JT1.7.

If your capital expenditures in 2010 and 2011 are similar in levels, that would mean, on a rough-cut adjust basis, you would have about $500,000 in savings in PST and capital expenditures that took place in 2010.

My question is:  The 103,000 you are showing in the November 8th letter, is that incremental to approximately 400,000 reduction in 2010 capital expenditures that was already built into the forecast?

MR. GRIBBON:  I'm sorry, I am still not clear on what your question is there.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What is the total amount removed from 2010 capital expenditures related to the provincial sales tax, from July 1st to December 31st?

MS. CONBOY:  I am wondering, Mr. Engelberg, would this be a good time to take a break and perhaps give the panel an opportunity to look at Mr. Aiken's questions?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  So we will break until 11:00 o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 10:47 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:06 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Be seated, please.

Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  Have your witnesses looked at the question?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, they have, Madam Chair.

MR. GRIBBON:  Okay.  So in 2009, we calculated an estimated amount of PST that would have been included in capital expenditures of 1,078,000, and we calculated a similar amount for OM&A.  And those amounts are used as the basis for calculating the benefit in 2010.  Have I answered your question, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  No.  I was looking for the amount -- let me rephrase it this way.  If your PST for 2009 for capital expenditures was 1,078,000, what is the amount, consistent with the November 8th letter and your final revenue requirement, that you have removed from 2010 and 2011, in total, for PST for each of those years?

MR. GRIBBON:  I have the amount for 2011 that we removed, and that's an incremental amount of 410 from what was originally filed.  I don't have the total, per se, because some of those amounts had already been factored into the business plan and the budgets of some departments.

MR. AIKEN:  And that is a problem I think that I am having, is because I don't believe those numbers are on the record anyplace, the amount that was originally removed before the incremental 410.

MR. GRIBBON:  They're not on the record.  They would have been incorporated into the numbers that are on the record, and we haven't really referenced those numbers in total anywhere.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could you then provide an undertaking to provide the total amount of PST removed for 2010 capital expenditures and the total amount of PST removed for 2011 capital expenditures, so we can compare those with the 2009 number adjusted for the different levels in capital expenditures?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Before that undertaking is given, can I perhaps get an explanation as to whether that is to test the growth or reduction in the PST, or what would be the purpose of it?  I am just trying to ascertain whether that would be a helpful exercise to undertake.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, the purpose is obviously to determine what the 2011 rate base should be.

If there has been 500,000 removed from capital expenditures in 2011, rather than a million, then your rate base estimate is too high.  Similarly for 2010, if you have only removed 100,000 and you should have removed a million, your rate base starts off 900,000 too high.

MR. GRIBBON:  I think we are on the record as stating that we have removed -- we have gone back and we have reviewed this one more time since the technical conference, and we removed any additional PST savings that were excluded in the budgeting process.

MR. AIKEN:  So is it your testimony that you have removed all of the PST on the capital expenditures from July 1st, 2010 on and that those numbers would be roughly half a million in 2010 and a million in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  Roughly, in rough figures, those numbers are in the range.

On an annual basis -- in 2009, like I had said, we had estimated those numbers to be 1,078,000 for capital, and I have given you the OM&A number at 86,000.

MS. CONBOY:  Does that help you, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Not really, but I will move on.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  This may be a case where an intervenor actually wants a variance account.

Moving on to another rate base issue, this has to do with daycare.  The 2010 capital expenditures related to space no longer being utilized for daycare is discussed in Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 14.  This is page 15 of the compendium.

My understanding is that there is roughly $304,000 budgeted in 2010 for renovations and 60,000 for the parking area associated with the space that was formerly rented out for a daycare; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  The response indicates that no tenant had been found for this space as of October 1st.  Can you update us on the status of the search for a tenant?

MR. GRIBBON:  There is no tenant at this point.

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be fair to assume that Brampton will only undertake these expenditures in 2011 if it found a tenant for that space in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  Either if we found a tenant or if the space was necessary to be renovated for our own use.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you expect it to be needed for your own use?

MR. GRIBBON:  At this point, I would say we do not expect it to be needed for our own use, other than its current use, which is storage.

MR. AIKEN:  Has Brampton included any rental revenue associated with this space in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  We have not.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am going to move on to the topic of the working capital allowance.

I am going to be specifically dealing with the cost of power calculation.  The 2011 cost of power used in the working capital allowance is shown in Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 2.0, table 3.  That is on page 16 of the compendium.

I am focussing on the commodity costs, which total approximately $270 million, and it is based on the gigawatt-hour forecast of 3,898.5 shown on that same table, and the commodity price of $69.38 per megawatt-hour.  Have I got all of those figures correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  I will refer that question to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  As identified in Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 10, we did confirm that the cost of power was calculated utilizing 0. -- sorry, $0.0694 per kilowatt-hour.

MR. AIKEN:  My understanding is that the commodity cost of power has not been changed from the original evidence.  In other words, there is no changes through to and including the changes in the November 8th letter that reflected any changes in the commodity cost of power?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.  We currently have not adjusted our cost of power.

MR. AIKEN:  Energy Probe number 10, which you just referred to, is at page 17 of the compendium.

Parts (b) and (c) of the response indicate that the cost of power is calculated based on the RPP and non-RPP prices and the share of the RPP and non-RPP volumes, which are 35 percent and 65 percent; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And the response to this interrogatory indicates that using this approach results in a cost of power of 2 million -- just under 258 million based on the latest RPP price plan report; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  That was not the latest report that was released recently.  That was calculated based on the report of -- bear with me for a minute.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm sorry, that is based on the April report --


MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  -- using the RPP and non-RPP split?

MR. MILLER:  Right.  It is not the latest one that was released recently.

MR. AIKEN:  In your original evidence, you did not use the RPP and non-RPP volume split?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct, we did not.

MR. AIKEN:  And if you did, based on the April report, the cost of power would drop to about 258 million?

MR. MILLER:  Based on the April report, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  Not the recent one.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  Actually, I submit that had we used the recent one, the cost of power would be in the magnitude of 259.6 million, using the same RPP split.

MR. AIKEN:  In the response to part (c) of Energy Probe 10, Brampton indicates that the non-RPP volume should also be adjusted to account for the, quote/unquote:

"Adjustment to address bias towards unfavourable variance and the adjustment to clear existing variance".

Can you explain why you believe these two adjustments should be applied to arrive at the non-RPP price?

MR. MILLER:  Well, we didn't say we believe.  We just said we submit that it did not include that.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you believe it should include that?

MR. MILLER:  After re-examining previous decisions, no, it should not.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, you indicated if you updated the cost of power to reflect the October RPP price
report -- what was the number you got?  259.6 million?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  What is the RPP and non-RPP prices you use to come up with that number?

MR. MILLER:  That would be right out of the report itself.  Just bear with me for a minute.

That would have been a total cost of power for RPP customers of 68.38 dollars per megawatt-hour, and a HOEP of 39.23, and a global adjustment of 286.38, for a total of 65.61.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Are you aware of the methodology used by Hydro One Networks to calculate the non-RPP price?

MR. MILLER:  Not directly.  Are you talking about segregating out the non-RPP portion of customers from the RPP?

MR. AIKEN:  No, I am one step beyond that.  I'm talking about the RPP price -- or, sorry, the non-RPP price.

MR. MILLER:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  That would be applied to the non-RPP volumes.

MR. MILLER:  Could you clarify?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  If you could turn to Exhibit J7.1 from the EB-2009-0096 proceeding, that is page 19 of the Energy Probe compendium.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, I have it.

MR. AIKEN:  You will see there that the non-RPP cost uses the forecasted average HOEP for the May 2010 through April 2011 period.  That is in the note at the bottom of that calculation.

MR. MILLER:  It's in the notes?  From the May 2010 to April 2011?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  So what they've done or what they did was they updated the HOEP from their original filing to reflect the May through April rate year.

MR. MILLER:  And what period of time is their decision?

MR. AIKEN:  Their decision for 2010 -- they had requested a January 1st rate year, but they were late getting a decision until -- I don't know what it was -- April/May.

But the key thing is they updated to match the May through April period.  And my question is, subject to check - and this may require an undertaking - that if Brampton followed the same methodology as Hydro One Networks in the calculation of the non-RPP price, and in your case, adjusted for January through December rates for a rate year, because you're asking for a January rate year, based on the October price report, what would the cost of power be?

In other words, your RPP is the 68.38 that you indicated.  The non-RPP price would be updated to reflect a HOEP price that is a weighted average of January to December from the October price report.

And you will find this on page 23 of the Energy Probe compendium.

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  I notice you did some calculations there, where you came up with 38.28.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  If that was your HOEP price and you added in the global adjustment, and used that as a non-RPP price.

MR. MILLER:  Well, the issue I have with that is there is no corresponding global adjustment associated with that time frame.  If there is, it is not here.

MR. AIKEN:  And that gets me back to the Hydro One Networks methodology, which used the global adjustment, the same global adjustment that was in the report for the previous period.  In other words, they updated the HOEP price and took the same global adjustment.

MR. MILLER:  Well, I can't speak to their decision.  That is not the methodology that I would choose to go forward with.  That is inconsistent with other applications, from what I've seen.  So I would have some concerns and issues with doing that.

We're making decisions based on information that you are taking part of the dollar values for a certain period of time and not reconciling an offsetting amount for that same period of time.  That is inconsistent.  I don't see the rationale for doing that.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you point us to some decisions that support your position?

MR. MILLER:  Well, the decisions that have been made before in the past have been based on that report that has come out with regards to RPP.

I haven't seen anything that picks and chooses certain price components for certain periods of time.  If there is, please let me know.

MR. AIKEN:  We will do so.

I am going to skip over the rest of my working capital allowance calculations, because I believe they're all going to show up in my argument.

So operating costs is what I am moving to next, a couple of issues under the general heading of operating costs.

With respect to the overall increase in OM&A, can you please turn up the response to Energy Probe No. 32?  This is page 24 of the compendium.

The table provided in the response is based on CGAAP and shows an increase of 24-1/2 percent -- I believe that is the number there -- 24-1/2 percent between 2009 and 2011.  Their increase is broken down as 14.3 percent in 2010 and 8.9 percent in 2011.

In dollar terms, the increase in 2011 is about 1.8 million, following an increase of two-and-a-half million in 2010.

Have I got those numbers right?  The reason I ask is because my copy is hard to read and small.

MR. GRIBBON:  Mine is too.

[Laughter.]

MR. AIKEN:  So subject to check, those are the correct numbers.

In part (b) of the response –- sorry, I am skipping ahead here.  Yes, in part (b) of the response in the -- I guess it is not part (b), it is part (c).

The second page of that interrogatory, anyway, on page 25, the Energy Probe compendium, the year-to-date June 2010 OM&A costs are shown as being about $200,000 higher than the costs for the corresponding period in 2009, or an increase of about 2.1 percent.

First, can you explain why the increase through half the year is only 2.1 percent as compared to a forecast of 14.3 percent for the bridge year?

MR. GRIBBON:  Just a point of clarification.  The numbers that are in that response to IR 32 from Energy Probe have changed slightly as a result of the November 8th letter, and those are itemized.  Those changes are itemized in appendix A to that letter.

In response to your question about the current year, there were amounts that we had budgeted for that didn't occur.  We had an issue with a certain type of meter base, and as part of our smart meter program we expected a number of failures.  And, for whatever reason, we didn't have those failure rates that we had anticipated.  So we are under plan because of that in the current year.

Also, from a weather point of view, we had a fairly good year that way.  Some years it will -- weather will play havoc with OM&A, and I would say that this isn't a typical year where -- we haven't had significant outages that we have experienced in other years.

MR. AIKEN:  You mentioned the weather and some of the other impacts that have reduced your OM&A costs.

Do you have more recent information on a year-to-date basis for 2010 versus a corresponding period in 2009 that you could share with us?

MR. GRIBBON:  I do have more recent information.  However, that information hasn't been released to the public, and I am not sure that I should be releasing that at this point.

The third quarter information has been released, and we continue to track below plan on OM&A to that point in time.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you know roughly how much you are tracking above through three quarters versus 2009 through three quarters?

MR. GRIBBON:  I don't have that exact number at my fingertips, but I do know it is below plan.

MR. AIKEN:  A couple of other questions where I have not included the information in the compendium, but I don't think you need to pull up the numbers.

In the response to Energy Probe number 33, part (d), Brampton indicated that the year to date June 2010 bad debt expense was $143,000, whereas the amount forecast for 2010 was $515,000.

Can you tell me what the most recent year-to-date figure for bad debt in 2010 is, or is that one of these areas where you are below?

MR. GRIBBON:  We -- I can't say that we're tracking significantly different than our business plan for bad debts at this point in time.  And I don't have the exact number, but it is -- there is nothing significant, plus or minus.

In one year, we did have a significant number of -- well, not a significant number -- a significant amount, dollar amount, of bad debts related to the economic times of that year, but this year is more of a normal year.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And it is my understanding that Brampton has included the MDMR-related costs in the 2011 OM&A expenditures; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, we have.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Is the specific amount included in the revenue requirement associated with the MDMR costs $758,949?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  That's the number on pages 26 and 27 of the compendium.  So that is the actual amount that you have included, okay.

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, at pages 26 and 27, which is Exhibit 9, tab 3 of your evidence, it indicates that if Brampton does not have these costs approved for inclusion in the proposed revenue requirement, then it wants a deferral account for these costs.

Are you proposing a variance account around the 758-and-change amount if the Board determines that this estimate should be included in the revenue requirement?

MR. GRIBBON:  A variance account would be a more appropriate solution to this issue as opposed to pushing those costs to a future date and dealing with them at that point.  A variance account I think is reasonable.

MR. AIKEN:  I can tell you I would agree.  I would prefer a forecast in a variance than a deferral.  So I'm assuming that you would not object if the Board felt there should be a variance account around this amount, because this amount is uncertain at this time?

MR. GRIBBON:  As long as we are tracking the variance to the amount that is in rates for future disposition, plus or minus, then I think we're happy with that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Turning to pension costs, and for this you will need the September 2nd letter.

In this letter, you are asking for the approval of a deferral account to record the incremental OMERS contributions.  I've got a number of questions in this area.  The first one is:  Why are you asking for a deferral account and not including something and asking for a variance account around that amount?

MR. GRIBBON:  I think the company would be happy with either option.  It is a cost that we expect to continue on beyond the initial three-year period.

If there was an amount to be included in rates, we would need to include it in OM&A, and then any variance from that would get tracked in a variance account.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then in the September 2nd letter on the third page, it is indicated that the increase is expected to be approximately 1 million for the 2011 through 2013 time period.  Does this mean $1 million for each of those years, or $1 million in aggregate over these three years?

MR. GRIBBON:  It is $1 million in aggregate over those three years.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, whether you include it in the revenue requirement with a variance account, or outside the revenue requirement in a deferral account, how will the incremental premiums be determined?

By that, I mean how will you split the overall OMERS cost to Brampton over this period into the two parts that I see that there would be?  One would be based on the change in number of employees - in other words, a change in your costs that would happen regardless of the increase in the premiums - versus the increase in the premiums alone.

MR. GRIBBON:  It would be fairly straightforward.  The additional costs that OMERS is pushing down to entities is -- in the initial year, it is 1 percent.  So it is fairly easy to strip that out of the amount that we paid to OMERS.

In the next year, it is an additional 1 percent, and the following year an additional 0.9 percent.  So it is fairly straightforward to pull that out of what we're paying OMERS.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I think I understand what you're saying.  And based on that understanding, there would be no incremental cost recorded in this deferral or variance account related to additional employees.  It would only be on the increase in the premium for existing employees and the increase in the premium for new employees?

MR. GRIBBON:  Our current rates have a base amount included in OM&A for our OMERS cost.

So any new employees that this new charge would be subject to would get put into the variance account.  That cost would be allocated to the variance account.

MR. AIKEN:  So the variance account would be -- would track the increases from the premium increase and the increase in number of employees?

MR. GRIBBON:  No.  The base amount -- so to give an example, if we added a new employee, the base cost of OMERS would not hit the variance account; it would only be that incremental, temporary surcharge that would hit the variance account.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So by "base cost" you mean the forecast -- for example, the forecast for 2011 includes a base cost that reflects additional employees already.

MR. GRIBBON:  Which forecast?

MR. AIKEN:  The one underlying this revenue requirement.

MR. GRIBBON:  In the million dollars, that was an estimate that was derived based on actual data from 2009.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  But what I am asking is:  Your 2011 OMERS cost included in the revenue requirement already reflects the increase in staff, and then this variance account would be for the one percent on top of that each year?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving into corporate income taxes, a couple of clarification questions here.  These questions revolve around the response to Energy Probe 46, which is attached to -- or shown as page 28 of the compendium.

In that response, in part (b), Brampton indicates that the provincial small business deduction does not apply to it.  Is that still your opinion?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  What is the basis for that understanding?

MR. GRIBBON:  Well, I would refer you to the response, in that our taxable capital is in excess of the amount allowed for that purpose.

MR. AIKEN:  Are you aware that this $10 million in asset threshold is applicable to the qualification for the federal small business corporate tax rate and not the provincial small business tax rate?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Then why doesn't the provincial small business tax rate apply to Brampton?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would have to get back to you on that.

MR. MILLAR:  That's an undertaking?  J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  to EXPLAIN WHY PROVINCIAL SMALL BUSINESS TAX RATE DOES NOT APPLY TO HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON.

MR. AIKEN:  I can refer you to the Chatham-Kent decision from last year, if you want to take a look at a Board decision that dealt with that, EB-2009-0261.

You may also want to talk to Toronto Hydro, because I think they're a little bit bigger than you, but they have included the small business deduction in their evidence.

Staying with Energy Probe No. 46, I want to turn to the issue of tax credits claimed in the 2011 test year.

My understanding is that Brampton has not included any provincial or federal apprenticeship tax credits in the calculation of taxes for 2011, or any cooperative education tax credits; and have I got that right?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  In the technical conference – and this is at transcript page 80, which I have included at page 29 of the compendium -- Brampton has provided estimates of the three tax credits that total $64,000.

I just wanted to follow up on that response.  Was the Ontario apprenticeship training tax credit based on the maximum per eligible position of $10,000 that was put in place in 2010?

MR. GRIBBON:  It is an estimate for the year.

MR. AIKEN:  But it is based on a maximum credit of 10,000 per eligible employee?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken, are these questions incremental to the questions that you asked in the technical conference?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, they are.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, the co-op education tax credit estimate that you have provided, is that based on the $3,000 maximum that was put in place in 2010?

MR. GRIBBON:  I am not familiar with the exact amount that you are referring to, but it is an estimate based on the prior year's experience.  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  That is exactly my point, because in prior years the tax credits had lower limits.  They were increased, I believe, March 29th of 2010.

The Ontario apprenticeship tax credit went from a maximum of 5,000 to 10,000 per position, and the cooperative education tax credit went from a maximum of 1,000 to 3,000.

So I want to make sure that the estimates you provided in the technical conference are based on the existing maximums that are in place, and not on previous years' estimates.

MR. GRIBBON:  These amounts are not a certain tax credit that we will experience in the future.

We have based the estimate based on prior years.  We sometimes hire apprentices, and we support the apprenticeship program.  But in some of these staffing additions, we may hire fully qualified individuals, as well, and we wouldn't be subject to these tax credits.

MR. AIKEN:  But I assume in your forecast of staff additions, you've forecast how many of these will be apprentice positions, have you not?

MR. GRIBBON:  We have.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if you take those number of positions and apply the new limits on the credits -- all I am asking is if the numbers in the technical conference reflect the new maximum limits that are in place.

MR. GRIBBON:  And I would submit that it is an estimate and it is based on prior experience, and these amounts are uncertain.

MR. AIKEN:  Not because of the rates, but because of the number of people?

MR. GRIBBON:  Because of the number of people.  We may or may not hire apprentices, and we have not included any of these tax credits in the calculations.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.

One other tax issue, and this is in response to Energy Probe 45, on page 30 of the compendium.  This was a correction that Brampton agreed was appropriate for class 52.

My question is:  Has this change been incorporated into the results of the November 8th letter?

MR. GAPIC:  This change was reflected in the revenue requirement that was submitted in the October 1st submission, and subsequently is -- still remains in the calculations to come to the November the 8th letter.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning to the issue of long-term debt, page 2 of Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 2.0, this is page 31 in the compendium.

Has Brampton issued any of the $10 million in debt forecast for 2010 shown in table 2?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, we haven't.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you plan on issuing anything in 2010?

MR. GRIBBON:  At this point, we do not plan on issuing any debt, long-term debt, in 2010.

MR. AIKEN:  Will you then be issuing 57 million in 2011, rather than the 47 million?

MR. GRIBBON:  We will be issuing debt to achieve our 60/40 debt equity ratio in 2011.

MR. AIKEN:  So if everything goes to plan, you would issue 57 million?  That would be your expectation?

MR. GRIBBON:  The calculations that I've done for long-term debt would be in the 285 million range.

So less where our current debt is at 143, that would put us as approximately 42 million of long-term debt, as I calculate it, to achieve that 60/40 debt equity.

The balance of the debt would be funded on a short-term basis.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Moving on to deferral and variance account, I have only one issue to deal with here, and that is the disposition of the existing balances.

My understanding is that you are proposing to recover approximately 6.5 million from customers over two years; is that correct?  Sorry, that is Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2.1, and I believe it was a blue page update.

MR. GAPIC:  Can you repeat that, please?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  It's Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2.1, blue page.

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct, the number that we're seeking disposition for account balances totalling $6.5 million.

MR. AIKEN:  And it is over your -- you are planning to recover it over two years?

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The issue I want to discuss is the application of the HST to the recovery of the deferral and variance accounts amount.

Could you turn up Energy Probe 52, which is at page 34 of the compendium?

First, would you agree that the application of the 13 percent HST in place of the 5 percent GST results in an increase of eight percentage points being applied to the disposition balance of 6-1/2 million, resulting in additional cost to customers of with about half-a-million dollars?

MR. GRIBBON:  I can't confirm the math, but I see -- I see where you are going with that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The response provided indicates that Brampton is required by taxation authorities to apply all applicable taxes, including HST, and that there have been no discussions with Revenue Canada.  Is that still the case?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's still the case.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, starting at page 35 of the compendium and going through to the end, I believe, I have attached correspondence received by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. from the Canada Revenue Agency related to a similar situation.

In this case, Enbridge will be rebating amounts to customers.  Have you had a chance to look at this correspondence or had your tax people look at it?

MR. GRIBBON:  I have read it.

MR. AIKEN:  I want to highlight the first paragraph on the last page of that correspondence under the heading "Explanation".  I will just read it here:
"Under subsection 232, part 2, EGDI has up to four years after the end of the reporting period in which the consideration was reduced to adjust the amount of tax charged or to refund or credit the tax collected to the recipient."


Now, based on this, does Brampton believe that it should seek a ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency in regard to the applicable tax rate, either GST or HST, to be applicable on the amount to be cleared?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would suggest the issue here is beyond Brampton.  This is an industry issue that will need to be addressed at some point in the future.

And I would even go as far to suggest that it is beyond the scope of what we're asking for.  If there is to be a GST at 5 percent applied to the amounts of our invoices on these recovery balances, then we will comply with any legislation or any tax rulings to that effect.

I am not sure of the specific circumstances under which this ruling applies, so I really can't comment on this ruling, but rest assured that we will follow the rulings of HST and GST on this matter.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess my question then is:  Do you think Brampton, given that you are one of the first ones on the electric side who was dealing with this, should seek a ruling and noting that it will take several, several months to get a ruling out of Canada Revenue Agency, or do you believe this is something that the Board should be doing on behalf of distributors?

Like, who should be doing this, and doing it when?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Madam Chair, I would suggest it is not really proper for this witness to speculate on which player in the industry should be doing this.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  We agree.

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be appropriate, then, if the Board were to determine that your deferral and variance balances that you want to collect, the collection of those should be delayed until the industry has a better understanding from the Canada Revenue Agency of how much the customers should be paying?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would think if there is a change in the current legislation or the current direction from the Canada Revenue Agency on this matter, that we would apply any credits on a retroactive basis, but certainly we will follow whatever the Canada Revenue Agency advises us.

But I think given that some of these balances have been hanging out there for years, I think we need to address it as part of this proceeding.

MR. AIKEN:  And I guess the problem we're all having is we don't know what the policy is.  Whether it should be 5 percent or 13 percent, other than in, like you say, the specific circumstances for Enbridge.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Aiken, I think Mr. Gribbon has answered your question that it is beyond the scope of Hydro One Brampton to respond to that one in this proceeding, and they are happy to say, whatever ruling is made in this respect, that they will follow that in the disposal of their variance accounts.  So maybe we could move on, please.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.  Distribution revenues is my next and I believe final topic, you will all be happy to know.

A couple of quick questions on the load forecast, and I apologize in advance.  I forgot to add these to the compendium of materials.

The first question I have is on Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1.  So, again, that is Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1.

MS. CONBOY:  If you will give us a minute, please, Mr. Aiken?  You got us so used to your compendium that we've got to now find things in our binders.

MR. AIKEN:  I've got you addicted.

[Laughter]

MR. AIKEN:  Then when you get to Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, if you go up to page 4 of 6?  Now I really apologize.

MS. CONBOY:  It's okay.  Now everybody knows how useful those compendiums are.  We are there.  Go ahead, please.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Page 4 of 6, table 2, at the bottom of the "2011" column there is a figure for kilowatt-hours -- yes, kilowatts from applicable classes of 5,862,912.

Now, I have added up the kilowatt forecast for the GS greater than 50, intermediate, large use and SLR customers.  I come up with a total figure of 5,745,177.

What am I missing in that calculation?

MR. MILLER:  Actually, I believe this was handled in one of the interrogatories.

MR. AIKEN:  I believe I know the interrogatory you are thinking of, but that was on a different forecast methodology, I believe.  But I assume that the correct number is the 5,745,177?


MR. MILLER:  I would have to confirm that, but... what was the number you had?


MR. AIKEN:  5,745,177.  And when you confirm that, can you also confirm which number, the 5.7 or the 5.8 million, was used to calculate revenues at existing rates and is used in your rates for 2011?


I just want to make sure we are using the right number all the way through.


MR. MILLER:  Sure.  One moment, please.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MILLER:  We can take an undertaking for that.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  to CONFIRM NUMBER USED TO CALCULATE REVENUES AT EXISTING RATES AND RATES FOR 2011.


MR. AIKEN:  While we're at Exhibit 3, could you please turn to tab 2, schedule 3, and specifically pages 7 and 8?


And I am going to be dealing with tables 5, 6 and 7 and 8 on those two pages.  This has to do with customers.


MR. MILLER:  Yes, I have them.


MR. AIKEN:  Were the customer forecast shown on table 8 based on the growth rates shown in table 7 for 2009?  In other words, as an example, 2 percent for residential, 1.3 percent for -- I believe that USL should be GS less-than-50?


MR. MILLER:  It is based on the exponential smooth values that would be in the formula, so it would have utilized these growth rates.


MR. AIKEN:  It's the 2009 growth rates you have applied to get the 2010 and 2011 numbers?


MR. MILLER:  It would have -- the exponential smoothing uses data from all years, with more focus on the latter.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The evidence says, right in the middle there, lines 8 and 9, that table 8 outlines a forecast of customers by rate class for 2010 and 2011 using the growth rates of the exponentially smooth data for 2009.


Do you mean by that it is using exponentially smooth data from 2004 through 2009?


MR. MILLER:  I believe those growth rates are determined using the data from 2004 to 2009.


MR. AIKEN:  So the growth rates you used are not the 2009 numbers?  Sorry, growth rates shown on table 7?


MR. MILLER:  I would have to confirm if that is the cumulative growth rate associated with the period before.


MS. CONBOY:  Is that something you are asking for, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  I am thinking.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Sorry.  I guess yes, because I want to give you two examples.


In the residential forecast, the growth rate does not reflect two percent growth.  It actually reflects something closer to 1.1 percent in 2010 and 1 percent in 2011, if you look at those numbers.


And the other example that really stood out to me was the GS-greater-than-50 class.  In this class, in table 6, if you look back at table 6, there are 1,549 customers in 2009, 1,482 the previous year, and that works out to be a growth rate of 4-1/2 percent.


MR. MILLER:  Sorry, that is smaller than 50, the GS-smaller-than-50?


MR. AIKEN:  No, greater-than-50.


MR. MILLER:  Oh.  The GS smaller, I have 1,549 in 2009.


MR. AIKEN:  I was actually looking at the blue page update.  I think there were some issues with the headings.


MR. MILLER:  Oh, okay.  Sorry.


MR. AIKEN:  So the GS greater-than-50 goes from 1,482 to 1,549, 2008 to 2009.


And what troubled me was when I get to the forecast in table 8, I see a decline in the number of GS greater-than-50 customers to 1,544.


So even though there has been positive growth throughout the period for the GS greater-than-50 customers, I see a forecasted decline.  In fact, if you look at the actual numbers of customers which are shown in table 5, you are forecasting to go from 1,554 to 1,544.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MILLER:  Sorry.  Just give me a minute.


That does appear to be the case.  I have noticed, though, there was a decline in customers between 2003 to -- sorry, 2004 to 2005, and that might be adjusting some of the numbers.  If you notice, 2004, 2005 was, in fact, a negative growth.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  But one year of negative growth, I don't think would outweigh all of the other positive years and end up with a negative forecast.  So anyways, could you undertake to review how the customer forecasts in table 8 were derived, and provide the growth rates used?


MR. MILLER:  Yes, we can.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.6. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  to REVIEW HOW CUSTOMER FORECASTS IN TABLE 8 WERE DERIVED, AND PROVIDE GROWTH RATES USED.


MR. AIKEN:  You will be happy to know I am done.  So thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Buonaguro, you are up next, but I am wondering how is everybody feeling?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, my only comment would be if we break for lunch now, I can -- I don't have a compendium, but what I do instead is I use the computer system to put up the -- what I am looking at.


MS. CONBOY:  Equally useful.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But I need a little bit of time to get you set up there, so we can do that and be ready after lunch, if you like.


MS. CONBOY:  Great.


Okay.  So we will take an hour for lunch and return at 1:00 o'clock.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:04 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:09 p.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, I see you've got your display ready.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  Shall I begin?


MS. CONBOY:  Please.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for VECC.  As you can see, I am going to try and use the visual presentation here to show you what exhibits I am referring to.


I don't have a compendium.  This is what I do instead of a compendium.


I am going to start off where Mr. Aiken left off, which is load forecasting, and, in particular, I am going to start with some questions about the incorporation of conservation and demand management into the load forecast.


So as you can see, I am starting with Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 2, and this is page 3 that I am showing here.  Basically, my understanding of this section here is that it describes how you derive the CDM adjustment for the load forecast; correct?


MR. MILLER:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that you started with the IPSP projection of CDM savings, and then adjusted it to account for the recent economic recession and the new CDM targets, and that the result at a provincial level is set out in table 1, which I have just highlighted the top there?


MR. MILLER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, could you confirm for me, first, that the CDM impacts you used represent cumulative savings from 2008 to 2011?  I can increase the size of that if you want to be able to actually read it.


MR. MILLER:  That is incorrect.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. MILLER:  The values that were used for 2011 was the revised numbers that we expect to attain in 2011, which is 2,386.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when I say -- when I suggest that you used cumulative savings from 2008 to 2011, you're saying, no, that's incorrect.  You have specific 2011 savings that you are using?


MR. MILLER:  That's correct that it is incorrect.  If --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, please elaborate.


MR. MILLER:  No, no.  In other words, very quickly, to cut to the chase, if you take the 2,386 and take 2.75 percent of that, you will come up with the 64 gigawatt-hours that we are adjusting our forecast by.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me try this.  I am going to move on to VECC number 37, which I will pull up on the screen.  And in part (a) of this question, we asked -- we raise the fact that it appeared the load forecasting model included data up to the end of 2009 and that, therefore, would already be capturing CDM savings to this point.


And it appeared to us from your response that you agreed with this and state that what the adjustment is meant to capture is, quote, "future savings due to the mandated targets in OPA programs".


MR. MILLER:  Right.  And those future savings would be that 2,300 number.


MR. BUONAGURO:  2,300 from the last table, table 1 on the exhibit?


MR. MILLER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So...  All right, thank you.


Now, going back to table 1, you show here an adjusted series of CDM savings based on the IPSP, but meant to account for the recent recession in government's new targets for LDCs.  That's how we understand that.  Is that correct?


MR. MILLER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, on Friday, I distributed a document to the parties for use in this cross-examination.


It is undertaking JT1.1 from EB-2010-0133, which is a Hydro Ottawa proceeding.  Did you receive that?


MR. MILLER:  Yes, I did.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And specifically I noted that there is one table in particular that I was going to be using.  I provided copies to Board Staff, which hopefully they can hand up to the Panel.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Millar, do you have a copy of that for us?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do.  And, Madam Chair, we will mark that as Exhibit K1.3, and Mr. Cheung will bring a copy up for both of you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  UNDERTAKING JT1.1 FROM EB-2010-0133.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this is called "Step 1 Provincial Savings For 2011-14 Activities", and when we got it from the Hydro Ottawa, this is the explanation they gave us.  They said that this was used by the working groups of the EDA and the ministry and the OPA when they were initially trying to determine how they were going to divide the targets up among the LDCs.  And that is from EB-2010-0133, technical conference transcript page 14 to 15, just in case anybody wants to check that.


But my understanding from the technical conference in this case - and that would be at page 46 - was that -- or it was described that the steps the OPA went through in establishing the aggregate LDC target are set out here.


And if you look at OPA steps 1,2 worksheet, which is the extract that I have distributed, we can see the calculations that were actually done by the OPA.


Now, looking at this printout, looking at the second row, which is called "Updated near term IPSP projections", do you see that?


MR. MILLER:  Yes, I do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We see here for 2011 that the OPA has revised the 8,800 gigawatt-hour savings from the IPSP down to 3,306.  You can see that --


MR. MILLER:  In 2011, I do see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.


And my understanding is that that's different than the -- if you go back to table 1, which I still have on the screen, conveniently, that would be different than the 7,762 gigawatt-hour value that you have used.


Can you explain the difference?  For example, starting first, what was your source for the 7,762 gigawatt-hours number?


MR. MILLER:  For the 7,000 -- okay.  We used the IPSP as a foundation for the numbers to begin with.


We then adjusted for economic factors, and this is something that -- we worked with Hydro One Networks, who did work in conjunction with the OPA, and came up with what they considered to be reasonable numbers that compensated for the economic conditions at that time.  And this forecast is one that we received.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you started from the IPSP, and then worked in conjunction with Hydro One Networks Inc.?  Is that --


MR. MILLER:  Yes.  And they worked in conjunction with the OPA, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But you will notice, and I think you will agree, that your results, 7,762 gigawatt-hours, is significantly different than what we got here from the OPA --


MR. MILLER:  Well, with regards to the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in this exercise?


MR. MILLER:  Yes.  Well, with regards to the spreadsheet, my understanding is that this is something that was submitted by Hydro Ottawa as part of their rate application.  I don't believe these numbers are official from the OPA at all.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. MILLER:  And these numbers, they've never been publicly tested either, that I am aware of.


So at the time of submission, we used the best information available, but these numbers here are not -- are not official numbers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So with respect to your 7,762, then, can you provide the source data that led to that, the actual -- what you got from Hydro One Networks and presumably what they got from OPA to show the calculation?


MR. MILLER:  I had spoke to a representative at Hydro One, and they did say that this is something they derived in conjunction with the OPA.  It reflects the latest values that they see as being reasonable.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am just looking for the source data behind that.


MR. MILLER:  The source data?


MR. BUONAGURO:  What they used to get to it.


MR. MILLER:  I don't have that readily available.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you ask?  I guess you would be asking Hydro One Networks where they got it and --


MR. MILLER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  They gave it to you, so could I get that undertaking?


MR. MILLER:  I can look into that, sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO ASK HYDRO ONE NETWORKS TO PROVIDE SOURCE DATA THAT LED TO FIGURE OF 7,662 GIGAWATT HOURS.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding of the table that I have presented is that this was the table that was used by -– well, in developing the CDM targets for individual utilities, which has a certain time associated with it.  Can you tell me the timing of your calculation which led to the 7,762?

We can see from the excerpt here you started from the IPSP from the August 2007, and presumably since then, there were adjustments done by the OPA and Hydro One Networks Inc. in conjunction, from my understanding of your testimony.

MR. MILLER:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you know what the timing of that was?  I am trying to figure out whether what I submitted to you in this document is more contemporaneous to this hearing than what you submitted, or not.

MR. MILLER:  I can't recall the exact date, but it would have been in the first quarter of 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But that would be the time it was actually done, or when it was given to you?

MR. MILLER:  When it was given to me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Maybe you can check when you're asking about the source data, what dates that source data had attached to it.

MR. MILLER:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then again, looking at the -- still looking at the sheet, the K1.3, with respect to the 3,306 kilowatt-hour number we're looking at, my understanding is that that includes just over 1,000 gigawatt-hours that was achieved in 2008 and 2009, which would not be viewed as incremental in terms of post-2009 savings?

MR. MILLER:  Again, I really can't speak to these numbers, because they're not official public numbers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

So I guess you have said that a couple of times.  You're saying that before I distributed it on Friday, you hadn't seen this table or this information?

MR. MILLER:  No, I had not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, it is our understanding that the OEB has released the final CDM targets for the LDCs?

MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that Brampton's is 189.54 gigawatt-hours cumulative savings over 2011 to 2014?

MR. MILLER:  That is confirmed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that this represents 3.15 percent of the overall 6,000 gigawatt-hour LDC target for 2014?

MR. MILLER:  That's consistent with my number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if we look at the -- back to the sheet.  Sorry, I am just finding myself on my own sheet here.

Okay.  If we go here to the sheet and we see 2011, the last row on the first page sets the LDC savings for each year and the cumulative reached the 6,000 gigawatt-hour target and the value for 2011 is 577 gigawatt-hours, so if you look at the total, it's 000, 577, 1,196, 1,813, 2,360, that is how we get to 6,000 gigawatt-hours total savings over the period for the province?

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that sound right to you?  Do you understand what I'm saying?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  You have taken the total on the bottom there and summed that up, 577.196, 1,813 and the 2,360?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That is how we get to 6,000, so this shows the total projected 6,000, how the province intends to reach through LDCs 6,000 gigawatt-hours of savings over four years.

And so the first year would be 577 gigawatt-hours; that is what they're looking for in the first year.  That is my understanding.

Can you take that, subject to check? Because I understand you said you haven't seen this before.

MR. MILLER:  I can take that, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, if we were to take the 3.15 percent allocation to Brampton, and assume that Brampton was projected to achieve 3.15 percent of the 2011 target for the province, can you confirm or take it, subject to check, that that would be 18.2 gigawatt hours?  It is essentially 3.15 percent of 577?

MR. MILLER:  Hydro One Brampton has not chosen to follow the percentage that you are suggesting.  We have actually filed a conservation demand management plan, and we plan on achieving fairly incremental targets throughout those four years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you are saying that your position is you are not bound by a particular percentage of the annual target?

MR. MILLER:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am just saying that, mathematically speaking, if the projection was to be based on your -- the four-year total of 3.15 percent on an annual basis based on the OPA's projection, which I am suggesting is represented by this, what you're expected to do is something in the order of 18.2 gigawatt-hours?  If that correlation exists, which you dispute --


MR. MILLER:  If that is what we were planning on doing, sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, as I understand it, these numbers are at the retail level, and assuming that is true, if we wanted to gross it up to the purchase level, which is how the CDM adjustment in the application would be defined, it would have to be increased for distribution losses; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  Just one moment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. MILLER:  I believe these numbers are at the transmission level, and then have to be reduced downwards.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  When you say that, you mean you have to adjust it for distribution losses?

MR. MILLER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then in doing that, I'm assuming it would be appropriate to use your proposed 2011 distribution loss factor, and I have it here.  It would be 1.0349, which would be at E-8, tab 5, schedule 1.1.

MR. MILLER:  That would be inconsistent with the methodology which we applied the CDM reductions to our plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you say "inconsistent"?

MR. MILLER:  It would be inconsistent, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can you explain?

MR. MILLER:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How would you do the adjustment?  That is basically what I am asking.

MR. MILLER:  What we do is we did our forecast based on a multi-factor regression model.  And from that, we take the values that were assigned, we correct them for transmission losses, and then take that off the total.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MILLER:  And then that gives us our total forecasted kilowatt-hours for all classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think what I have suggested here -- and again, I understand that you are maybe not agreeing with what I would suggest might be your obligation or your forecast for the year, for the 2011 year based on these annual provincial targets -- but if we take the 3.15 percent allocation to Brampton, you get an 18.2 gigawatt-hours figure, and then I think you have confirmed that that number, calculated in that way, would be at the retail level and you have to adjust it for distribution losses.

And the way I was suggesting that you would make that adjustment is by applying your loss factor of 1.0349, which is in your evidence at Exhibit 8, tab 5, schedule 1.1, and you're telling me that is inconsistent with how you've done your -- or how you have incorporated CDM into your load forecast.

But you did say in your answer that distribution losses are accounted for?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  And we were coming at it –- I'm coming at it from, I guess, a higher level.  You're coming at it from a bottom-up approach, so...

MR. BUONAGURO:  So would they get this -- I am assuming that the distribution loss factor, whether you're working from the bottom up or the top down would be the same?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  They should be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLER:  But again, I would like to reiterate that it is not our goal or target to achieve that 18 kilowatt.  We do have a plan that is in place that we do have an obligation in four years in which to achieve these targets, and in order to make sure that we're going to be successful in doing that, we are taking each year at basically an equal proportion of share.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, you mean you are splitting your -- I am assuming from what you said that you're splitting your four-year obligation over four years equally?

MR. MILLER:  Roughly.  There are some modifications to it, but generally speaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you see any reason why the OPA has done it differently, it appears from this exhibit?

MR. MILLER:  I couldn't speak to what the rationale was behind the OPA's approach.

Again, these numbers here, the total target agrees with what the Board has, but in terms of the allocation, I haven't seen before.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But let's take the 6,000, for example.  If the OPA were projecting the same thing, based on the same principle, the 6,000 would be distributed equally between four years, and that would be 1,500 per year; correct?  As opposed to 577, which this suggests?

MR. MILLER:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So clearly, assuming, again, that the 577 is representative of the OPA's expectations, they're not expecting every LDC to do one quarter of their CDM target in the first year?

MR. MILLER:  Based on the information I see here, you're correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I can move on to a different topic.  I am going to just ask briefly about some of the deferral accounts, and you may have gone through this with Mr. Aiken, but I just want to be crystal clear on the record what is being asked for and what is not being asked for.

I am going to start with the -- well, I will pull up Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 3, page 1, which sets out the different deferral and variance accounts that are requested.

I am going to start with the late payment settlement cost deferral account.  My understanding is that in addition to the account, you are seeking approval for a rate rider that would clear the account in 2011; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, are you aware -- and I think you are, because I sent you the notice on Friday, but are you aware that on October 29th the OEB initiated proceeding EB-2010-0295 to consider the costs of the late payment penalty settlement action and how they should be -- how those -- whether those moneys should be recovered from ratepayers and, if so, how?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in light of that proceeding, is it still your position that in this proceeding that you should get an account and a rider for those amounts, or would it be something that would be decided in the grander context of all the LDCs who are subject to that -- to that proceeding?

MR. GRIBBON:  When we submitted this rate application in June, this was something that really hadn't been addressed by the Board.

It was our intent to include it for recovery, and we haven't removed it at this point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, given that the Board has now taken up a particular proceeding to deal with this very issue, would it not be appropriate to withdraw the relief in this particular application and be subject to whatever the Board decides in that other generic proceeding?

MR. GRIBBON:  We wouldn't be opposed to that position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  That makes it quick.

The second, IFRS, and I think you probably got to this with Mr. Aiken, but just for clarity, there are two costs or two deferral accounts relative to IFRS.  You have them listed here or described as IFRS costs subsequent to IFRS implementation and losses on early retirement.

The first one -- and we have gone through the September 2nd, I believe it is, letter which talks about the fact you are not subject to IFRS in the test year; right?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for the test year, there is nothing to capture in that account?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But my understanding is that you are still asking for the account; am I correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  The intent here was to provide for costs that would be incurred when IFRS is implemented.

And, currently, we are looking at an implementation date of January 1st, 2012.  That could change.  It could be some time in 2011.  It has changed actually a couple of times in the last -- within the last six months.

So that is why we had asked for the deferral account, is to capture those costs upon implementation, whenever that might be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, again, I am going to ask you if you are aware - and I know you are, because I sent it to you just in case you weren't - on November 17th, the OEB issued a letter stating that it is setting up a work group to look specifically at how IFRS should be implemented within the IRM environment?

You got my e-mail, so you would be aware?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, I am aware.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  Now, presumably that -- again, it is similar to late payment penalty consultative, I will call it.  The Board is looking at the implementation of IFRS-related changes to LDCs throughout the IRM period, which presumably Hydro One Brampton is going to go into post 2011.

Wouldn't that initiative, that Board initiative, account for any concerns you have about IFRS implementation, whether it is earlier than 2012 or beyond?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would suspect that all of the issues associated with the implementation of IFRS will be addressed by that working group and by the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then presumably you would agree, then, you don't actually need the account set up in this application?  You can raise the issue in the Board generic proceeding?

MR. GRIBBON:  To the extent that we're not excluded from recovering those costs associated with the transition.  I believe the working group is more to address the issues in an IRM period as opposed to a full cost of service study.

So to the extent that we're included -- Hydro One Brampton is included in that proceeding, then --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I am going to ask you just a couple of questions just to clarify.

Well, obviously when we're talking about IRM, we're talking about, in the Hydro One Brampton's case, moving from this proceeding as a base year to 2012 as an IRM year; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if that is what happens, then presumably you will be covered by whatever the results of that particular proceeding are, that generic proceeding on IFRS; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.  There could be a situation where IFRS is implemented before then, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Relative to that possibility, would you be in any different position than any other LDC in Ontario that is dealing with, I guess, a test year in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  We wouldn't be any different than any other LDC that is in a test year; correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And would all of that sort of reasoning go with the losses on early retirement deferral account that you are asking for, as well?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would be predicting, I guess, what the working group will be discussing and what the Board will be deciding on with respect to that, but certainly that is one of the issues of moving to IFRS that should be addressed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  As of right now, you won't be recording anything in that account if you were to get it within the test year, because you are not in IFRS in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am going to move on to some questions on the green energy plan, some of which, thankfully, was covered by Mr. Aiken, but some of which I have to go back to.

First, I am going to ask you about the calculation of the rate adder, just mostly for clarification.  You told Mr. Aiken -- if I understood it correctly, I guess speaking in general terms, you have a total cost of the green energy plan, and then you have an allocation of those costs between your ratepayers specifically and I guess we will call it the province generally, which goes -- which would be recovered through the global adjustment.  That is the framework that recovery of those costs work under; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  I will defer that question to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  Sure.  You are talking about the provincial share?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  It is my understanding that that share will go towards the global adjustment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And my understanding from your discussion with Mr. Aiken is that notwithstanding that structure, your proposal for the rate adder is to essentially assume that 100 percent of the costs of the Green Energy Act plan are to be recovered from ratepayers in the first instance, and then if you happen to recover anything through the global adjustment, you will throw that into a variance account.  That is how I understood the conversation.

MR. MILLER:  If once we receive funds from the IESO for disbursement associated with our share of the Green Energy Act, then we will put that into the variance account and offer our ratepayers the difference.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Which means that assuming that the -- well, assuming that the portion that is allocated in the plan is approved by the Board and, therefore, submitted to the IESO for recovery through the global adjustment -- through the global adjustment, it means that ratepayers will be -- you will be right covering from ratepayers as a result of this plan.

For example, for some of the projects, I think the allocation is 50-50, so 50 percent to your ratepayers and 50 percent to the global adjustment.  I think that is one scenario for one of the plans -- for one of the projects?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, it is.  Yes, that's correct.  That's the SCADA projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for that project, in particular, you will be recovering, through your rates and the global adjustment combined, 150 percent of the costs of that project, and then returning 50 percent later on?

MR. MILLER:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, in that particular situation where the split is 50/50 between your ratepayers and the province generally, you will be recovering 100 percent of the costs through your rate rider, and then another additional 50 percent of the costs through the global adjustment.  So you will be recovering 150 percent of those costs, and then returning 50 percent to the variance account.  That is the proposal.

MR. MILLER:  No.  I don't think it works that way.  The global adjustment is charged to our customers directly.  We don't receive funds from the global adjustment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will take that correction, but from the ratepayers' perspective, they're paying 150 percent of the costs of the project and then getting 50 percent back through a variance account, because although you don't actually collect it from the global adjustment -- although I understand that the global adjustment is a direct charge, that doesn't go through you in that instance, it comes back to you because of your Green Energy Plan, and having applied for those costs in the first place; right?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the other way to do it, which I think is what Mr. Aiken was getting at, would be to do what the plan says, which is if the Board approves 50/50 allocation of a particular project in the plan, you would recover 50 percent of that through your rates and 50 percent through the global adjustment, and in that case there would be no need for a variance account.

And I think that is how it works for Hydro One Networks Inc. Distribution, but I can suggest that to you and maybe if you know whether that is the case or not, you can confirm that.  But I think that is how they proposed it.

MR. GAPIC:  I would like to add a few more comments in regards to this issue.

It is really uncertain as to what we'll actually get recovery for.  Are we going to get recovery for dollar-for-dollar cost expenditures?  Are we going to get a revenue requirement recovery?

There are so many uncertainties in regards to this area, and I am repeating myself from a transcript this morning.  You will see it is unknown, and until we have the cash in our hand, we don't really know what we are getting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say it is unknown, I mean you are submitting the Green Energy Plan projects for approval to this Panel, are you not?

MR. GAPIC:  We're actually -- initially we submitted the projects for approval in this Panel.  However, given the alternative approach we took by going through a rate-funding adder, it is a different approach.

Now, basically what we're doing is we're submitting for disposition of balances in the future, and at that time, there would be review and prudency review of our costs.  And we are comfortable doing it the same way we as we did the smart meter approach.  The smart meters, once the revenue requirement was approved, then we would seek disposition and prudency review of our costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MILLER:  I think going forward -- maybe we can sort of conclude this conversation -- is we have submitted for the total costs to be picked up by our customers.  And I understand your point.

And to our point, a variance account is required, because we don't know what the costs are going to be at the end of the day.  We don't know what we're going to receive approval for.

However, in light of that fact, I don't think we'd be opposed to having a variance account associated with the Hydro One Brampton's share of the green energy costs associated with Hydro One Brampton itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that what is embedded in rates and through the rate adder –- sorry, not embedded in rates, but what goes in the rate adder is based on the allocation and the costs in the plan, and then the variance would capture not only differences in the costs of the plan, but also, potentially, differences in the allocation of those costs?

MR. MILLER:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just following up on that slightly, though, on the other point, though, which is that you are not certain –- sorry, I put it to you that you were asking for approval of the plan in this application, and your answer to me was –- well, I don't mean –- well, I'm going to paraphrase.  You said, Not really.

You're saying you have a plan and the plan is justifying the rate adder, as I understand it, but that ultimately, whether the plan is approved in its totality or at a higher level or at a lower level is something that the Board is going to do later on?  And that includes the proper allocation of costs between ratepayers and the province?

MR. GAPIC:  That's the way we see it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned smart meters as, I guess, an analogy to what you are doing here, in the sense that in smart meter -- in the case of smart meters, the total costs of the program, forecast costs of the plan went to a smart meter adder.  And then all of the true-up and prudency review happened after the fact.

I think that is why you made the analogy?

MR. GAPIC:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in the smart meter case -- and off the top of my head, I don't believe there was any question about splitting it up between the province and the ratepayers.  In smart meters, the entire cost, one way or another, was going to be borne by the individual distributors' ratepayers, whatever that total cost turned out to be; correct?

MR. GAPIC:  It is slightly different that way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, I have some questions on specifically the calculations of the provincial benefits for particular projects.

I can see my computer has gone to sleep.  I am going to wake it up.

I am going to start with OEB No. 34, Interrogatory No. 34.  And at part (a), you are explaining the basis - I will blow it up here - you are explaining the basis for the calculation of the direct benefits assumptions that you have made regarding capital expenditures on expansion, renewable enabling improvements and SCADA; correct?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And at page 1, you will see that I have highlighted lines 31 to 45.  And essentially that portion of the answer outlines the rationale for the 18.75 percent allocation of expansion costs as a direct benefit to ratepayers, so presumably Brampton's ratepayers specifically?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And one of the first thing you talk about in there is the fact that you need to upgrade and replace pad-mounted transformers as a result of new renewable generation, and that that provides some benefit to ratepayers?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then at lines 36 to 37 of this answer, you appear to state that the only expansion spending you anticipate making is for these pad-mounted transformers.

I highlighted that because at page 16 of the Green Energy Plan -- and I will pull it up in a second, but that is Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 5.1, appendix G.  So I am going to pull that up.

Under the -- you can see it is underlined, "Expansion," and forgive me for the highlighting.  I had to use optical recognition technology to highlight it at all, and it didn't come out very well.  But under "Expansion" there appears to be quite a series of different types of expansion investments that you anticipate making in order to connect new renewable generators.

I just want to know if you could reconcile those two statements.

So you have the statement in the IR response, which talks about these particular pad-mounted transformers, suggesting that that is the only expansion that you have in the plan, but then you have this quote from the Green Energy Plan, your Green Energy Plan, which talks about a whole number of different expansion types of --


MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  This section in the Green Energy Plan basically is taken out of the Distribution System Code.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  And explains some of the expansions that can occur on a system when generators connect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So this --


MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  It doesn't necessarily mean that we are taking these projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I see.  So then I should read it as this is the type of thing you could do, and that if you were doing it, it would fall under the Green Energy Plan.  But in the particular instance, in this particular application when we're talking about expansion, you're only talking about the pad-mounted transformers?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Consistent with the IR response.  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Now, back to the transformers, can you explain briefly why they need to be replaced or upgraded?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  We have identified five transformers that are required to be upgraded to a larger size to accommodate generation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I wouldn't call that -- you're not just replacing things that are broken or outdated; you are actually replacing something to accommodate new generation?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's right.  I believe the average age of the transformers being upgraded is 15 years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.
And then I am just going back to the IR response at OEB No. 34.  At lines 38 and 39 specifically, there is a statement here that -- and this is with respect to the pad-mounted transformers.  It says:
"These investments would be subject to a financial evaluation to determine the benefit to Hydro One Brampton load customers based on the Net Present Value ('NPV') of the 'consumed portion' of the asset replaced on a 'like-for-like' basis."


Which suggests to me that as part of your analysis, you did a net present value determination for these assets.  Is that --


MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Well, basically, if this was a new asset going into a certain area and that asset would serve both a load customer and benefit a connection to a generator, it would be a 50-50 split.  But since it is being replaced, because it is being replaced early in its life, we determined that there is less benefit to the load customer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Does that mean that, strictly speaking, there was no, quote, "net present value" analysis in this case?  Is it more of you start from 50-50, and then you ballpark 18.75?  I am trying to get a handle on --


MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I wouldn't ballpark it.  We looked at all five locations, and we determined the average age of the transformers to be 15 years.

The lifespan of a pad-mounted transformer is estimated at 40 years.  It is pretty basic math to me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think you set that out.  I am reading here at JT1.21, at page 3 of that exhibit.  You can see in red there you've got your 18.75 percent.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that is what you just described to me there; right?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I understand now that in the IR response, you're talking about net present value, but you meant that in the context of outside of the green energy plan -- well, I shouldn't say that.

Normally, when you replace the asset, you would do this net present value, but because you are doing it for a different purpose, replacing something that exists to accommodate generation, you have done this instead?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  We have done this instead, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if you were to do a calculation of the benefit to ratepayers of replacing these partially aged transformers now on a net present value basis, how would that work?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GRIBBON:  I'm sorry, we're having a little trouble following the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess the basic assumption or assertion would be -- well, I can put it to you.  Absent the need to accommodate new generation, you would never replace these pad-mounted transformers, would you?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No, we wouldn't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  And part of that, I assume, would be that because doing a net present value on that basis, i.e., taking out a 15-year-old transformer and replacing it essentially for the sake of replacing it, wouldn't be -- wouldn't pass a net present value analysis, would it?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No, it wouldn't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, going to page 2 of the same exhibit -- so, sorry, I am going to be going back to OEB number 34 and going to page 2 of that exhibit.  You can see I have highlighted a portion there of the response specific to the SCADA.

Here you indicate that the SCADA investments will benefit ratepayers and claim that they should pay for 50 percent of the costs, and that is the allocation that is used for the purpose of the green energy plan?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going back to JT1.21, and like I did the last time -- Mr. Aiken was just offering the use of his compendium, which I also have on computer, but not readily available.

Sorry.  So I am going to the page 2 of JT 21 (sic), and you can see I have highlighted it here when you asked about the current design of the system, but then you talk about the fact that, quote, "we already have a well-developed SCADA system", which suggested to us that absent the green energy plan, the SCADA system you have is sufficient for the purposes of the utility?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, I would say so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, you do say, as I pointed out already, that the proposed SCADA spending will benefit ratepayers.  However, based on your last response, my understanding is that you wouldn't spend the money to upgrade the SCADA if it wasn't for the need to connect generators; is that correct?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's correct.  The current spending on SCADA without generation would be for sustainment only.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that is not the spending we're talking about here?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No, it's not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I guess similar to my questions on the pad-mounted transformers, this spending wouldn't be cost-effective if it were just for the purpose of meeting the needs of your ratepayers?  You are only doing it because of the generation, the need to add new generation?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  We identified areas where large generation is going in and we are putting SCADA in those areas, and the SCADA will help both the generator and the load customer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Notwithstanding the fact that there may be benefits to the ratepayers as a result of having to do the work for the generators, my understanding is that -- well, at the full cost of the project, you would never do this if the only benefits were to ratepayers, because the benefits don't outweigh the costs if you were to do the net present value analysis, for example?  And I think that is consistent with what you already said.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  We wouldn't put the SCADA in unless the generation was going into that area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you have made an allocation presumption of 50 percent?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  These are new assets, so we have broken it down to 50-50.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If you were to do an analysis of doing the project just for the purposes of serving ratepayers at a 50 percent basis -- so let's say we know the project costs X, but you can get it done for 50 percent of X and forget the fact -- assume you don't have to connect to generation.  Would you do the project, then; i.e., assuming no new generators need to be added and the cost of 50 percent, which is what you are going to be charging ratepayers, would you do the project?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  The purpose of the project is basically to allow generators to pump into the system while work can be done on our load customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I missed that beginning part.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Well, the SCADA will allow you to isolate, to move power around.  It will allow you to do maintenance on your system while generators are allowed to pump into the system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Which is something you don't need, other than the fact that they're generators coming --


MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I will leave it there.

Now, my next section was HST and PST, and through a combination of Mr. Aiken having covered it and me being completely confused, I am going to leave it.  I think there is some undertaking responses due on that, is there?

Anyway, the upshot is I don't have any questions for you on that.  So I am going to move on to some questions on OM&A and staffing, and I am going to start with Exhibit JT1.14, which I will pull up.

I am going to turn to the very last page of the exhibit to start, which is a little hard to read.  I am going to try blowing up the very top part of it, which is the part I am most interested in.  And, again, sorry, it is hard to read.  I will let you know where I am going, and I couldn't highlight it because of the nature of the document.

Looking at the employee count, the total employee count, which I think is the first column there -- sorry, the third row of numbers, we see that the numbers increase by 14 between 2009 and 2010.  So that is from 211 to 225.  Do you see that?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then a further six in 2011; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we are going to go back to the exhibit that we can actually read on the computer, so back to the beginning of this exhibit.

This shows the various employees and different categories added over 2005 to 2011; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if we follow this chart to its conclusion, it has totals, I believe.  And we see the same two totals for 2010 and 2011, the 14 and the 6 total; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is just summing up the individual hires that are listed above it, I think; correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if we look at the "2010" column more closely, and going back to the first page as an example, so I'm following the "2010" column there and going to the very first page where we have "accounts receivable analyst" it says thereunder "Rationale: replacement."

We assume from that that the hire was replacing an existing person that left for some reason, so there was a vacant position to be filled; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  My understanding of that is that that position was vacated in years gone by, but is being replaced at this point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GRIBBON:  That's what I would determine from reading that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So just from reading that?  Because I will just tell you what I'm reading.  So I see "accounts receivable analyst," you hired one in 2010.

"Position rationale, code R" and then next to it "Rationale: replacement."  Does "Position rationale, code R" mean replacement?

MR. GRIBBON:  I believe it does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GRIBBON: The definitions are at the bottom of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Sorry, I didn't... you are right.  It means replacement.  That's simple enough.

Then on the second page, if we go over to the second page, there is another two R designations for 2010.  So draft person, 2010, 1, R, and drafting supervisor, 2010, 1, R.  So two more replacements.

And this may tie into the first part of your answer, which is that it may be from previous years gone by, but it would appear from that that if you are replacing existing positions, one person leaving, one person coming, that the total of that column isn't showing new hires.  So it shouldn't be 14 new hires; it should be something in the order of, I think, 11, in this case, new hires.

MR. GRIBBON:  The two passions that you are referring to there, the drafting supervisor and the drafts person, were vacated in -- in prior years.

And we are going -- this schedule doesn't show the removal of those positions or the removal of those people in the years in which they actually were vacated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Does that mean that in -- I am not sure how to put this.  In revenue requirements gone by, between the time they left and the current, from a regulatory perspective, those positions have been non-existent?  I.e., until 2010, they're actual additions?  Or had they been holding an FTE place, from a regulatory perspective, all this time, and there just have been people employed there?

MR. GRIBBON:  On a year-over-year basis, it is an increment in staffing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying for those three, then, for example, and in particular for 2009, there was nobody in that position for the entire 2009 period?

MR. GRIBBON:  The 2010 would be an increment to 2009.  So I am not sure of the exact date when that position was vacated, but it would have been either in 2008 or early 2009, somewhere in there.

Regardless, the increase is an increase in bodies year-over-year, and that is what we were attempting to show here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just to follow up, would that reconcile with your reported compensation costs, for example, in the previous year?  Or would there be a placeholder for those positions, even though there is nobody there?

MR. GRIBBON:  The compensation costs are based on actuals, I believe.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Which means that they would be –-

MR. GRIBBON:  They would be included.  To the extent that they were there, they would be included.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then when you are talking about -- I am assuming somewhere in the evidence there is a discussion of compensation per person.  It would be on the actual totals?  So those people would be vacant –- sorry, when you're talking about compensation per person, which I guess is in the table at the end of the exhibit I am talking about, it would be based on -- for example, for 2009, it would be based on the actual number of people, i.e., no accounting for those three people, because -- and I  asked -- the concern is if those three people were included as part of the averaging out of the average compensation, even though they weren't there, it would artificially lower the average compensation, wouldn't it?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.  It would lower the average compensation, but to the extent that there wasn't a person there, there is no costs associated with that person included in any of the tables.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That includes in averaging?  I am just checking, because I didn't understand until now that the replacement, even though it's a replacement, isn't one-for-one in the year.  It is actually previous to the year.

So you're telling me that for 2010, for example, those three people are actual additions, incremental to what was there in 2009.  I just want to make sure the data is consistent with that, and I think you are telling me it is?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

I am going to ask you some questions particular to metering staff.  And I am going to start with Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 1.1, page 2.

And we understand from this reference that smart meter installations will be complete in 2011; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that you have less than -- sorry, you have less than 1,000 smart meters to install in 2011, compared to over 7,000 in 2010; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  I'm not sure of the exact number, but it is in the range of magnitude, for sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, going to JT1.14, which we were just at, on the fourth page of the response, we show reduction in staff, i.e., the removal of the smart metering supervisor, due to the completion of the program; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And now is this the same position that was shown in the previous lines as a new hire in 2006?  So you see in 2006, "Smart metering project coordinator"?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  2006, new program in 2006, and then a deduction in 2011; is that the same person?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me who this person was responsible for supervising, because the reduction is to a smart metering supervisor?

MR. GRIBBON:  Sure.  I will defer that to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  In 2006, we did hire a smart metering coordinator, and his primary role at that point in time was to initiate our smart metering rollout, and for the most part, the -- that department consisted of contract labour to do that.  So we hired contractors to come in and install that, those meters for us, for the most part.

Meters were also installed using existing metering staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it is a combination of supervising contractors and existing staff?

MR. MILLER:  Correct.  For the majority of the mass rollout, it was done via contractors.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, going back a page, so page 3 of this same exhibit, JT1.14, we see that over the 2005 to 2008 period, you hired three meter apprentices?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the explanation is "increased workload in programs" and then in brackets, "smart meters has generated a new position"?

MR. MILLER:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why they would still be required by the end of 2011, if the program is effectively completed by then?

MR. MILLER:  Well, as I said previously, the bulk of the installation was done via contractors.  So the primary capital work was executed using external staff.  However, we do expect that, on an ongoing basis, we will have additional OM&A costs associated with maintaining these meters and making sure we're compliant, receiving the reads in a time that we need to.

So although they were hired initially as part of the smart meter install, they will be required on an ongoing basis for maintenance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

I am moving on to a slightly different topic, customer service staff.  Again, I am still with JT1.14, on the first page.

You show one new hire in 2011 for a credit representative.  Do you see that?

MR. GRIBBON:  I can see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That was a test question to make you turn on your mic.

MR. GRIBBON:  I do see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And we understand that added position is due to more collection calls due to the current economic times, and we got that understanding from the answer to VECC number 41(d), which I can pull up for you.

You can see under here "Credit Representative", and the explanation:
"Increase in customers and call volume.  Difficult economic time - more customers in collections."


Correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this is a permanent staff position?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But our understanding -- well, our presumption, perhaps, is that the justification for this, as it says here, "difficult economic time", which presumably is short-term or at least temporary, and we were wondering why you wouldn't use a lower-cost part-time or contract staff for that, to fill a position for that particular problem?

MR. GRIBBON:  Unfortunately, there are a number of customers in our system that do have trouble paying their power bills.  This group works with them to assist them, in whatever way they can, to obtain the assistance that they're eligible for.

I would also add that, given some of the recent changes to deposits, the management of customers who default will increase substantially.  It's an area that is increasingly more demanding on our staff to keep on top of the current state of affairs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just to clarify, did you say that the Board's new policy on security deposits you believe will create more defaults?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, I didn't say that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know if I heard -- sorry, I only heard part of your answer.

MR. GRIBBON:  The new policy on deposits and how we treat deposits for customers who are defaulting on their payments creates a lot of management -- time-management issues with our collection staff.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Then one line down, it says here "Customer Accounts Representative, No. of Hires, 2", and it says:
"Increases in customers and call volume.  Introduction of Smart Meter program has increased workload."


Now, wouldn't -- specific to smart metering, wouldn't you expect the level of calls to fall off after customers become familiar with smart metering; i.e., isn't that more of a temporary problem?

MR. GRIBBON:  Sure.  I will defer that to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  Based on the level of activity and questions we have been receiving in light of the smart meters lately, we don't foresee any drop-off in customer complaints and questions pertaining to smart meters.

I think that is pretty fair to say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And then continuing on with smart meters, but not on the staffing, but on the cost of smart meters themselves, I have a few questions.

This is my last area of questioning.  I can break or I can finish it off, and then --


MS. CONBOY:  How long do you think you will be, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have two pages, which is maybe ten minutes -- five, ten minutes.

MS. CONBOY:  Are we okay to keep going?  All right, thanks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, our understanding -- and this is from - I will put it up there so you can see it - Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 2, page 1.  Our understanding from that, though, is - and perhaps you can confirm - that you have included in rate base all of the smart meter costs incurred to December 31st, 2009; is that correct?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes, we have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in response to VECC number 61(b), which I can also pull up, you have stated that you have not segregated smart meter costs by class; correct?

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to turn to the cost allocation model, of all things.  I am going to pull up the spreadsheet, but what I am looking at in the cost allocation model is sheet I7.1.

If you just give me a minute.  It not quite as easy to manipulate on the screen, but I am going to try.  So you can see at the bottom here I have I7.1, meter capital; okay?

And generally looking at this page, which I can only show parts at a time before nobody can read it because it is so small, but it is my understanding from this, in general, is that here you report the number of different types of smart meters installed by class and what the costs of each are.

So, for example, if we look at -- here I have on the screen residential, column 1, number of meters.  You actually have the number of meters installed and the metering costs for that.

Can you tell me where the cost information that is used for sheet I7.1 came from, if you don't segregate smart meter costs by class?

MR. GAPIC:  These were separate calculations done by our metering supervisor so we could forecast for the future year.  Given that we're dealing with a cost allocation for the 2011 test year, we needed to have representative data in here, so then there could be percentage allocations by customer class adequately.  But these numbers did not come from our smart meter program.  They were independent calculations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GRIBBON:  Could you go back to the previous --


MR. BUONAGURO:  The previous answer?  Sure.  So this is VECC number 61(b).

MR. GRIBBON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my understanding is that -- just to round it off, in VECC 61(b), you're telling you did not segregate smart metering costs by class.

And then I have taken you to the cost allocation model.  It seems to be -- it appears on the face of it to be broken down by class and number of meters and one particular category, i.e., residential, and the costs associated with that, which suggests to you us that you do have some segregation data.

But you are telling me that is a calculation done for cost allocation purposes and it isn't actually based on segregated data?

MR. GAPIC:  It wasn't based on data that came out of the smart meter deferral accounts or smart meter projects.

It was data that came from looking at and reviewing metering costs, along with standard costs for installation and that sort of thing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, going to VECC No. 63, I am going to blow up the two tables here.  Can you confirm that the first table represents the annual revenue requirements for the smart meters installed over 2007 to 2009?

I think you can see that it says revenue requirement, 2007, 343,540, for example.

MR. GAPIC:  One moment.


Please repeat your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Could you please confirm that the first table here represents the annual revenue requirements for the smart meters installed over 2007 to 2009?

MR. GAPIC:  It does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you confirm that for 2011, these assets and associated costs have been included in your proposed revenue requirement?

MR. GAPIC:  The assets installed to the end of 2009 were included in the calculation for the 2010 revenue requirement.  However, the second part of this table would have been used to calculate additional funding adder.

So no, from 2011 to 2014, capital expenditures and other costs that relate to smart meter installs to the end of 2009 were not included in those calculations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, just to parse that, so if we look at the first table and we have a total of $3,986,083, that is the revenue requirement impact of the smart meters installed to December 31st, 2009?

MR. GAPIC:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Cumulative; correct?  Yes?

MR. GAPIC:  Correct.  It is cumulative.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding from the first part of my cross on this is that that has been included in rate base -- sorry, those meters are included in rate base, and therefore those costs are included in your revenue requirement, you're saying as early as 2010?

MR. GAPIC:  The costs, the capital costs in relation to these expenditures were factored into the rate base for 2011, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That was my question.  Maybe I just put it a different way.  Thank you.

MR. GAPIC:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then I think you touched on this, but the second table, which goes from 21 on, those costs have still been recorded in the deferral account -- sorry, the smart meter deferral/variance accounts.

MR. GAPIC:  Which costs, sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Anything past December 31st, 2009.  So the 2010 -- well, the 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, those are things that are or will be in the deferral account, or am I mistaken?

MR. GAPIC:  No.  This table calculates the revenue requirement on smart meters, and the amounts that actually go into the deferral accounts per OEB filing requirements are capital expenditures, the operating expenses, and also amounts collected in funding adders.

So the balances that are actually being disposed of aren't consistent, or the approaches, that they're not the same as the actual revenue requirement for those.

These are returned calculations.  These are revenue requirement amounts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think we are talking at cross-purposes.

MR. GAPIC:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So let me start again.

My understanding is that the 3,986,083, which is labelled the revenue requirement impact of all of the smart meters that were installed up to December 31st, 2009, is now embedded in your application for 2011 rates.  And I think you agreed with that?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because they're in rate base?

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to read the second column, the second table here, and my understanding is that for 2010, for example, we're talking those calculations are based on the installations that were done in 2010, quite apart from the ones that were done in 2009 and earlier.

MR. GAPIC:  No.  That's not correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GAPIC:  The calculations for 2010, given that we're seeking approval for a 2011 cost-of-service rate year, the calculations for 2010 also take into consideration revenue requirement entitlement to Hydro One Brampton for the installs to the end of '09, because if you don't include that, there would be a loss of revenue for one year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that is a cumulative of the impact of the -- of adding the 2009, everything up to 2009 into rate base at December 31st, 2009, plus the incremental 2010 revenue requirement impact?  That's the cumulative?

MR. GAPIC:  What 2010 is is the combined amount, the single-year revenue requirement entitlement for smart meters, plus the additional amounts that relate to the new meter installs for 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Whether or not they're in rate base or in a deferral account?  I think...

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.  Whether or not they're in the rate base or deferral account in relation to the 2009 values.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then moving on to 2011, in the same table, though, 2011 appears to have a significant drop, but I think it is because 2011 only records the forecast 2011 installations?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.  The revenue requirement calculation for 2011 is composed of opening balances that roll forward from 2010 for installs of 2010, and also the installs of 2011 would be current-year additions.

So that calculation is purely based on 2011 revenue requirement, which does have a ripple effect from the 2010 smart meters installed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So 2011 is -- sounds to me like it is the state of the deferral account.  It doesn't include the rate base amounts?

MR. GAPIC:  No.  The way the deferral accounts are recorded, account 1555 would record the amounts collected, along with the capital expenditures, less any depreciation on those amounts.

Account 1556 would be the OM&A costs.

The actual revenue requirement amounts don't go into those accounts.  The revenue requirement are calculations that are done separately, extraneously to the actual accounts themselves.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps the simple way to do this is ask you why the 2010 and 2011 figures are -- seem so different, i.e., why is there a drop between 2010 of 4,088,000 down to 918,000 in 2011?

And I think your answer will what is going on here, at least to me.

MR. GAPIC:  I thought I answered that, but I will go over it again.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sometimes I need to hear it twice.  Sorry.

MR. GAPIC:  That's okay.

Looking at what we have asked for in rate base, for capital expenditures to the end of 2009, those amounts obviously would roll over into 2010, and then they would roll over into the opening balances for 2011.

So that is how those affect the rate base.

Now, given that we are jumping a year, in the funding adder we're seeking disposition to the end of 2009.  The spending –- sorry, let me correct that.

The revenue requirement in relation to 2010 would be missed if it wasn't included in an ongoing funding adder.  Given that we can only ask for disposition of smart meter balances at the end of 2009 -- because we're talking about audited financial statements -- if we had audited financial statements for 2010, what we could submit for is a disposition funding adder that included the 4 million -- or at least the majority of the 4,088,000, in with the 3,986,000 to the end of 2009.

It's the revenue requirement entitlement for all spending, and revenue requirement entitlement to the end of 2009 that would be recoverable by the utility.

Does that clarify it?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to guess that there is enough on the record for my consultant to work it out, and I can move on to the next part.  So thank you very much.

MR. GAPIC:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it has to be all there somewhere.

Moving to VECC -- thank you.  Moving to VECC 61, and I am going to move through this fairly quickly.  I think there is nothing contentious here.

It appears that most of the smart meters up to 2009 were residential; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it fair to say that by the end of 2009, virtually all the residential smart meters have been installed?

MR. MILLER:  A large percentage of them, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I say that in part because in the evidence -- and this is -- I will just give you the cite and read it, but Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 1.1, pages 1 to 2, it says there that in 2010 you will be installing 4,530 residential and 2,875 GS less-than-50 smart meters.  And then in 2011, you will be installing some 985, GS greater-than-50 smart meters, which suggests that that is -- the tail end of the residential will be done in 2010?

MR. MILLER:  That sounds correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, in preparing the rate base forecast, did you take into account the different types of smart meters that would be required for residential versus GS customers and their relative costs?

MR. MILLER:  By the end of 2010 it was expected and will materialize that all the residential and small general service customers will be installed at that point in time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And what I am trying to figure out, is the forecast for 2011, do you account for the fact that it is all GS greater than 50 smart meters, I guess, is that -- is the nature of the installations over time, i.e., front-loaded with residential, and then the rest of them being done in the latter half of the program as we have talked about, reflected in the forecast?  Presumably there is different costs associated with different levels and different types of installations, and so on.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. GAPIC:  I can add some insight into that question.  In regards to capital expenditures, OM&A expenditures that relate to the installs for 2010 and 2011, neither of them have been included in the revenue requirement calculations for 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But my understanding is that in determining -- I will tell you what I am asking, okay?

There is a recent PowerStream decision in EB-2010-0209, pages 16 and 17 of the decision, where the Board determined it was appropriate to use class-specific riders for prospective smart meter costs.  And what we have here are prospective smart meter costs associated with the smart meter rider for 2011.

And it appears to be specific to G greater than 50 smart meters, so I am just trying to see if that has been captured, if you are capturing that nuance going forward.

MR. MILLER:  This information was prepared long before the PowerStream decision took place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is it possible to break out the rate base capital costs for 2010 to 2014 by type of meter and by customer class?

MR. GRIBBON:  We expect to have all of the smart meters installed by the end of 2010.  So I am not sure I follow where we're going with this, because all of the costs associated with smart meters will be in rate base for the opening rate base of 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that a, no, you can't do it or --


MR. MILLER:  In addition, through our tracking of our spending, we haven't taken out work orders, if you will, that allows us to be able to track the costs for install and trucking, and so on, by class basis.  We haven't done that.

We've taken out a series of work orders, but it is aggregated data, aggregated costs, that is in there.  We haven't separated by class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you can't tell me in any particular year how much you spent on a particular meter?

MR. MILLER:  Meter?  We have meter costs, but we wouldn't have the associated labour costs with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will take that as a "no".

MR. MILLER:  Actually, this question was asked in one of the interrogatories, and we also had said that we couldn't break it out by class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then is it possible to use the unit meter costs in the cost allocation model that we discussed earlier to approximate the costs by class over the years?

MR. MILLER:  Well, the unit meter cost is an important function of the total costs, but, for example, when we started dealing with commercial industrial customers, in some cases we have to send a truck out there once, maybe twice, because we are trying not to disrupt their business.

Those costs haven't been segregated by class.  We don't have anything that separates that out specifically to any one customer classification.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you saying that that particular type of problem doesn't get caught up in the way you weighted the costs for cost allocation purposes?

MR. GAPIC:  The costing was based on standard costs, being normal installations, not taking into consideration the various other situations and costs that can occur.

Keeping in mind that the cost allocation model's purpose is to allocate costs by class, that was the best information we had available, and it does not represent what would have gone into the deferral and variance accounts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I am just -- not to belabour the point, but when you talk about -- you seem to be saying that the cost allocation assumptions used for the purposes of the cost allocation model obviously have some value, but they are based on a normal installation.

But I would expect that that -- when you are talking about a normal or I would call it maybe an average installation, that captures hard ones and easy ones in an averaging.  For a proxy -- to use it as a proxy for the per unit costs within a particular class for installations costs, it would be a fairly good proxy, understanding there would be more expensive ones and less expensive ones in actuality.  Is that not fair?

MR. GAPIC:  In terms of typical installations for a particular given type of meter, there could be.

However, when the unit costs were determined, the supervisor basically looked at what's typical.  If you've got a normal situation and -- you know, let's say we're replacing a meter.  What is it going to cost?  What is the time involved going to cost to install a particular meter, which is different than, you know, your first go at it?  When we're first installing smart meters, there are many different circumstances that arise and there are incremental additional costs, as Mr. Miller suggested.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  We will break for 15 minutes, returning at ten to.

--- Recess taken at 2:37 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:57 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Millar, I believe Board Staff is ready to go next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

And good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I propose to begin by introducing a few exhibits.

We are cross-examining in three broad areas, so in fact, we have three compendiums, which I believe the Panel, the Board Panel Members have on their desk?

MS. CONBOY:  We do.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  But I don't think the witnesses have them.  Oh, they do?  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  I would propose to mark them separately, I think is the most sensible way.  The first one is called the compendium on –- actually, pardon me, let me do it the other way.

The first one will be the compendium on Green Energy Plan issues, so that will be K1.4.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  COMPENDIUM ON GREEN ENERGY PLAN ISSUES.

MR. MILLAR:  The second will be the compendium on OM&A issues, K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COMPENDIUM ON OM&A ISSUES.

MR. MILLAR:  And then finally, there is a compendium on PILs issues, and that will be K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  COMPENDIUM ON PILS ISSUES.

MR. MILLAR:  And I believe I have already indicated this, but Mr. Skinner will, in fact, be asking the PILs questions for Board Staff, with your permission Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  You have.  Thank you.  That's fine with us.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fortunately a number of my questions have been asked, so that will shorten my cross a bit, though it may be a bit of a scattered approach.

I will start with a few follow-ups on the Green Energy Act spending issues.  And most of this has been covered by my friends, but if I could begin by asking you to turn up page 26 of the compendium, K1.4, this is an excerpt from the November 8th letter that we have discussed, or you have discussed with a number of my friends.

This was an update to the application, essentially, in which the Green Energy capital amounts were backed out of the application and replaced by a funding adder; is that a fair way to summarize it?

MR. GAPIC:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the reason you did that, you will see at page 26 -- I think this is page 2 of the letter -- there is a number "3" and the second sentence there references uncertainty as the reason that you are pulling that.

Indeed, I heard you say that a few times in the cross-examination previously.

And I am wondering if you could elaborate on that a little bit.  I would like to have some specifics about what uncertainty you are discussing.

MR. GAPIC:  Uncertainty relates to a couple of matters.

There is timing and dollar amounts.  We don't know, A, when the funds will flow back to the utility from the GEA.  I mean, that's -- it is still new, it is still underway, and although there could be documents that indicate roughly when these things should happen, given that we don't have experience and it is so new, we want to take a conservative approach.

Also, given the approach that we took, we wanted to do it from the perspective that the utility was kept whole with revenue requirement earnings, but also that the ratepayers wouldn't overpay in the short term.

So that is why we pulled it out of the distribution revenue requirement.

And in relation to further uncertainty, the dollar amounts are uncertain, because exactly how many dollars are we going to get?  How are they going to be dealt with?  The matters regarding accounting for these issues have not been dealt with.

For instance, will it be revenue requirement approach to recovery?  Will it be a capital contribution approach?

There are always accounting matters that need to be considered, and I don't know that those have all been considered for the purposes of the GEA capital.

MR. MILLAR:  Does any of the uncertainty relate to the actual projects that you plan to undertake?

MR. GAPIC:  I will let my colleague, Mr. Mastrofrancesco, speak on that.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I would say no to that.

MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  No?  That leads into my next question.  And there were some questions from Mr. Aiken; maybe the best place to turn for this would be page 8 of the compendium.

You will see it is the executive summary of the green energy spending.

Mr. Aiken asked you some questions.  There were a number of figures throughout the application.  I won't take you to all of them, but he asked you:  Which is the right number?  And I think the numbers that we see here are the correct ones for the purposes of the application; is that right?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.  These are GAAP numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you look in the pages immediately preceding page 8, pages 1 through 7, we've copied the list of the actual projects for the Green Energy Plan directly from your application.

You may have to take this subject to check, but we added up the numbers, and we only came up to about $867,000 as opposed to about a million, which shows up on page 8.

Can you help me with that discrepancy?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes, I can.  The business cases were developed in IFRS.

MR. MILLAR:  So 100 percent of the delta between the two numbers can be accounted for on that basis?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just switching to CGAAP hits you an extra $150,000?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And there is no other -- nothing else?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Nothing else.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  There was a discussion with both Mr. Aiken and Mr. Buonaguro about the fact that you're seeking, for the purposes of the rate adder, you're -- I shouldn't say -- you're assuming that there's no money that will come from provincial ratepayers, but you are collecting all of it from Brampton's ratepayers upfront and then to the extent there are recoveries in the future from provincial ratepayers, that would flow through the various variance accounts and you would end up with a refund to the ratepayers.

Do you recall those discussions?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you confirm for me -- I shouldn't put it that way.  Can you tell me if, for the -- in the current period, are you seeking to recover any money through the GAM right now?  Or will that be done sometime down the road?

MR. MILLER:  Through the GAM?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the -- I shouldn't say through the GAM, but from provincial ratepayers.  The way, in theory, this will all work out is that you will get a portion of it covered by provincial ratepayers.

Can you tell me if you are seeking any of that type of recovery now?

MR. MILLER:  Right now, no, we won't be recovering anything right now.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to look to the future, when do you think -- would that be your next application before the Board?  Or how do you see that playing out?

MR. MILLER:  Oh, I think that is part of the uncertainty that my colleague, Mr. Gapic, spoke about.

We are not aware of any mechanism on how this is going to be done.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't know, is the answer?

MR. MILLER:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  All right.  I think I am going to move on to some O&M issues.

You may want to have Exhibit K1.5 in front of you; that is our OM&A compendium.  And if I can ask you to turn to page 2, page 1 and 2, this is VECC IR 41.  I believe Mr. Buonaguro was discussing this or a similar chart with you.  And to be clear, I am at the response on page 2 of the compendium.

And as I say, Mr. Buonaguro has covered much of this, but I just want to go through a few things.

He has confirmed that there are 20 new hires over the test period from 2009 to 2011; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And also, I don't think it is shown here but maybe you can take, subject to check, that there is an increase in total compensation costs of about $2.1 million for that same period?

I can find that for you, if you like.  You list your compensation numbers, for example, at Staff IR No. 20.  I don't have it here, and –- or, sorry, I don't have it in the compendium, but can you take, subject to check, that those numbers are approximately right?

MR. GRIBBON:  We could check that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I won't ask you to.  If you find reason to disagree with that in the future, I am sure your counsel will let me know.

But it was a simple mathematical exercise.

MR. GRIBBON:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the categories of replacement is "S", which I understand is for succession planning; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I counted up about five of those positions.  Does that sound right?  If you wish to look, I see fleet mechanic, health, safety and environmental coordinator, project engineer, software developer, and a line apprentice, as well.

MR. GRIBBON:  There is -- I believe that is six.  One, two...  Six including the software developer at the end.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we should try this again, because I am not getting six.  I think I misled you by misreading some of the --


MR. GRIBBON:  I might be referring to a different schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  What I see here is one fleet mechanic, one line apprentice, a project -- what did I miss?  The health, safety and environmental coordinator, project engineer, and then a software developer.

MR. GRIBBON:  Okay.  Agreed.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry to have misled you there.

I take it -- maybe I will let you explain how this works, but are these people who essentially shadow a more senior person to prepare to replace them?

MR. GRIBBON:  In most cases, yes.  They're actually doing work.  It is not like they are just shadowing another person doing the work.  They are producing and preparing for the future when that individual inevitably will retire.

MR. MILLAR:  Presumably you hire these folks when you are expecting that there are retirements that are imminent?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't need them otherwise; is that fair to say?  If you had only young workers currently, you wouldn't have to hire succession planning --


MR. GRIBBON:  Our volume of work continues to increase as our customer base grows and our calls increase, our fleet grows.  We continually need more people.

We have justified these positions on the basis of succession planning.  However, they will be producing and contributing to the work.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the reason I assume they weren't for additional work is because you have a separate category for that, is that right, the "W" category?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  How -- is there a formal apprenticeship-type program, or are these people just hired in as junior workers?

MR. GRIBBON:  For some roles, there is an apprenticeship program.  In other roles, it is a training, internal training, that we do.

MR. MILLAR:  So for these five positions, can we expect that there will be five retirements in the coming few years?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.  In all cases, I would say there will be retirements in the next few years.

MR. MILLAR:  And will those likely occur over the course of the IRM term?  Would that be fair to say?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's fair to say.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I take it you are not proposing any adjustments to account for that?

MR. GRIBBON:  No, we're not suggesting any adjustments.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I wanted to get a handle on the approximate cost of the succession planning folks, by my rough math, the average cost per FTE is something in the range of $96, $97,000.  Would you take that subject to check?  All I did there was dividing your total number of FTEs by your total compensation amounts.

MR. GRIBBON:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it these folks would be a little bit cheaper than that, would that be fair to say, as relatively junior employees?

MR. GRIBBON:  Typically, their hourly rate is less.  However, there is significant training costs associated with new employees, and particularly in the apprenticeship program.

MR. MILLAR:  So we might expect them to be about average?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would say that is a fair estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn to page 4 of the compendium?  Again, this is K1.5.

This is a page directly from the application entitled "2011 Cost Drivers".  We see, under wages and benefits, just under $460,000.  And then number 5, you have "Conservation and Demand Management representative (2nd Quarter)".  Do you see that?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you look down to line 12, we see a separate item for conservation and demand management listed at just under $71,000.

Can you help me with this?  Are we talking about the same position?

MR. GRIBBON:  I would have to check that.  It certainly would appear that the explanation was used in both of those categories.

MR. MILLAR:  And I will ask you to check, but when I get a handle on how many folks are being used in this position, if we flip back to page 2 again of the compendium, you will see on that chart there is a position conservation and demand management representative.  That is a new work position, and it is only one hire.  Do you see that?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if you are happy to take this undertaking, what I would ask is if you -- I guess what I'm getting at - it won't surprise you - is we want to make sure there hasn't been some double counting here.  So we see two entries, one under wages and benefits, one under CDM management.

So I would ask that you undertake to take a look at this, review this, and ensure there hasn't been any double counting for that position.

MR. GRIBBON:  We will check that.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO REVIEW AND CONFIRM THERE IS NO DOUBLE COUNTING FOR SALARY OF NEW CDM HIRE.

MR. MILLAR:  Also on this point, this is something that has just occurred to me over the last very short period of time, so I don't have any documents with me, but I will see where I get on this.

I understand Hydro One Brampton has -- first, let me back up.  The CDM position, is that a hire because of the Board's CDM code and the targets that have been embedded in your licence?

MR. GRIBBON:  I will refer that to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  In light of the fact of the current provincial mandate and the OEB requirement with regards to CDM reduction targets, we have hired on an additional individual to help us oversee that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand that Brampton has, in fact, filed with the Board an application for Board-approved CDM programs.  Have I got that right?

MR. MILLER:  Yes, we did, November 1st, I believe.

MR. MILLAR:  And the total value or the amount of money you are seeking from the Board for that is something like $8 million?

MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand, through the magic of BlackBerry, that the application includes admin costs as part of that 8 million?  There is an amount allocated for administration costs?

MR. MILLER:  There would be, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Have you allocated any of the costs from this new CDM hire to the -- directly to any of the programs for which you are seeking approval?

MR. MILLER:  The new CDM hire right now -- at the time of the application, before we submitted our CDM targets, we needed to get someone in to the plan to be able to help us administer this.

So the actual plan that you see here has costs associated with the administration of the CDM plan, and the CDM plan itself will have admin costs in it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I want to make sure I am clear here.

Are you -- you have -- let's say it is $71,000, as we see on page 4, for this staff member.  Are these costs also being allocated to the CDM programs for which you are seeking Board approval and recovery through the Board?

MR. MILLER:  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MILLER:  Yes.  At the time of this submission, there was no assumption that the CDM plan would be funding this extra body.

MR. MILLAR:  But in your application to the Board for funding for CDM programs, you have agreed with me it includes administration costs.  Are the administration costs this person's salary or a portion of this person's salary?

MR. MILLER:  The funding formulas for that I do not believe take into consideration specific individuals, so I would say no.

MR. MILLAR:  How does the funding formula work?  What does it take into account?

MR. MILLER:  I would have to check the details on that, but, to my knowledge, there's nothing in there that adds staff into the numbers that we submitted.

MR. MILLAR:  This may be something of an amorphous undertaking request, but could I ask you -- in a similar vein to my previous undertaking request, could I ask you to go back and check and ensure there is no double counting involved for the salary of this employee versus costs you are seeking to recover through the CDM program application that you filed separately about with the Board?

MR. MILLER:  Sure.  That's not a problem.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  One final question on this --


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, would you like to give an undertaking for that?

MR. MILLAR:  I forgot my most important job.  J1.9. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  CONFIRM THERE IS NO DOUBLE-COUNTING INVOLVED FOR SALARY OF CDM HIRE, VERSUS COST RECOVERY SOUGHT IN CDM APPLICATION, AND ENSURE THAT RATES APPLICATION IS CONSISTENT WITH APPENDIX A OF CDM CODE.

MR. MILLAR:  Final question on this.  Mr. Miller I take it you would be familiar with the Board's CDM Code?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There is an appendix to that code about allocating costs.  I don't have it in front of me, but you are familiar with appendix A?

MR. MILLER:  It is one of many pages.  I can't be specific, but okay.

MR. MILLAR:  There is an appendix that relates to how you are supposed to allocate internal costs to CDM programs?

MR. MILLER:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is appendix A, as I understand it?

MR. MILLER:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you reviewed that to ensure that your proposal for this standalone hire on CDM is consistent with the codes in that regard?

MR. MILLER:  In this case, no.  No.  Like I said, this application, I think, was put forward before the CDM code came out.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to add that to the undertaking, 1.9?

MR. MILLER:  Sure.  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not actually saying you did it wrong.

MR. MILLER:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But I would like you to have a check, and I suppose if people disagree, they can do so through argument.

But just to be clear, the addition to the undertaking is to ensure that the rates application is consistent with appendix A of the Board's CDM code.

MR. MILLER:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I thank you for that.

Moving along, if you could go to Page 5 of the exhibit book, we see -– again, this is a test year versus the bridge year.  This is directly from the application.

5310, the meter reading expenses, you are showing an increase of 848,000 in 2011; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are seeking to recover that through rates, obviously?

MR. MILLER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you help me out with this?  These meter-reading expenses, who charges you for that?

MR. MILLER:  That would be the SME, or the MDM/R, going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the smart meter entity?

MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that run through the IESO?

MR. MILLER:  That it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So if I say it is a bill you get from the IESO, that is close enough?

MR. MILLER:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Have you received -- you say it is an increase of $848,000.  Have you received any bills to date?

MR. MILLER:  Actually, the amount associated with the SME, I think, is about 758.  The extra 100 is for other miscellaneous costs, but the bulk of the 848 is smart metering entity-related.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Did you get a bill for that in 2010, or will 2011 be the first time?

MR. MILLER:  2011 will be the first time.  The reason where that -- where that number was derived was basically a conference call we had with the IESO, where they identified their projected costs associated with running the MDM/R, and at that time they had mentioned that it, for budgetary purposes, used a cost of 48 cents per meter.

So what we did was we took a look at the number of smart meter customers that we have and applied the 48 cents, and that is where we derived that number from.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Was that a firm number?  You said this was through a conference call.  I take it you don't have a bill yet?

MR. MILLER:  No.  There is no bill.  To my knowledge, it hasn't been initiated yet, but they said for 2011 that that would be a reasonable place mark or benchmark for MDM/R costs.

That's why we are also looking for a variance account associated with this, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  When did that call take place?

MR. MILLER:  I believe it was in the first quarter of 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

If you could go to page 7, please, this is Board Staff IR 16.  This, I am hoping, is a relatively simple one.

This chart, I understand that some of the numbers will have been updated.  You've got, for example, the total OM&A expense shown in this chart is 22.2 million, and I -- yes, 22.21 million.

There has been a slight reduction to that since the November 8th letter; is that correct?

MR. GAPIC:  Repeat the last part of that question, please?

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that the information in the chart that we see here on page 7 of the exhibit book is no longer current; is that correct?  There has been a slight reduction to the OM&A that you are seeking?

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.  That number has gone down to 22 –- well, still 22.2 million, but it is 22,176,435.

MR. MILLAR:  I have 22.18.  Does that sound about right?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we have this chart refiled with the updated numbers?  Is that possible?

MR. GRIBBON:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J1.10. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NUMBERS FOR CHART IN RESPONSE TO BOARD STAFF IR NO. 16.

MR. MILLAR:  Some quick questions on load forecasting, in particular the CDM adjustment.  I think has been covered fairly thoroughly, so I won't take too long on this.

But what you've done is your forecast, your load forecast has been reduced by 64 gigawatt-hours; is that correct?  On account of presumed CDM initiatives?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.  Those numbers originated from the IPSP.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And since that time, you have actually had a target assigned to you; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And your four-year target is just under 190 gigawatt-hours; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  Right.  It's 189.54, to be specific.

MR. MILLAR:  If I wanted to do some simple math on that, if I were to divide that by four to get -- I know you don't have a one-year target, but if you were to divide that amongst four years, you get about just over 47 gigawatt-hours per year?

MR. MILLER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you may have already answered this, but I will ask it one more time.

Would this be a better number to be -- to use for the load reduction forecast, 47 as opposed to 64?

MR. MILLER:  I would suggest no.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?

MR. MILLER:  Just give me one moment.

Okay.  Page 14 of advice to the OEB, CDM target allocation for LDCs, under step 2, they specify -- this is from the OPA to the OEB when considering the 6,000 kilowatt-hour -- or gigawatt-hour reduction.  It says:

"Subtract resource saving projections outside of LDC influence to determine aggregate LDC targets."

So in other words, the 6,000 all go through some of this reduction, but basically the 6,000 gigawatt-hours that have been reduced are -- have been -- sorry.

Our 64 gigawatt-hour target would be inclusive of the 6,000 gigawatt-hours from the OEB, plus these that are savings outside of an LDC's control.

For example -- and I will read this:

"The following resources were subtracted from the provincial projection from step 1 and excluded from the LDC aggregate targets advice as these resources were assumed to be outside of the direct control or influence of the LDC.  Savings from plan changes to codes and standards..."

So in other words, the provincial and federal governments have assigned various programs that will reduce our consumption, outside of our control.

So the 6,000 is definitely within our control.  But in addition to that, there are also other CDM reductions that are going on within our service territory that will reduce our forecast.

And that's how the IPSP ties into these numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  You say there are other CDM reductions?  What did you mean by that?

MR. MILLER:  Well, there will be -- as they go, savings from plan changes to codes and standards, savings from conservation programs for transmission-connected facilities, savings from other influence conservation, provincial and federal government-led conservation programs, and so on.

MR. MILLAR:  So these are -- we're calling them CDM adjustments and perhaps they are, but they're not necessarily related strictly to Brampton's CDM undertakings?

MR. MILLER:  They're not related to Brampton's CDM undertakings, but these will actually impact our forecast going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand.  Okay.

Just quickly, you have filed a CDM strategy as required by the Board's code; is that correct?

MR. MILLER:  Yes, we did.

MR. MILLAR:  And you would have included forecast CDM savings from your own efforts for each of the four years as part of that strategy?  Guesstimates, in any case?

MR. MILLER:  Well, the way the forecast was done was we took the 2011 targets from the IPSP, because that's the base year, and we included that in the forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is what went into your CDM strategy?

MR. MILLER:  That is correct.  Just a footnote or a comment I just want to raise is that in the Board's targets, they assigned us 3.16 percent of the overall provincial target.

In our forecast, we used 2.75, so one could argue we're a little conservative on the CDM impacts going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thank you.

Okay.  Let's look at, I think, page 17.

Mr. Buonaguro had some questions on this smart meter funding adder.  I am afraid I am going to take you, hopefully briefly, back into that swamp.

Do you have page 17 in front of you?  This is VECC 63.

MR. GRIBBON:  We do.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Millar, these are not questions that have already been asked by Mr. Buonaguro earlier?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I'm afraid they're not.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I was hoping.  I would have paid him good money had he asked them.

MS. CONBOY:  We have a few questions that are sounding very familiar, so let's try to ask new ones, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be very brief on this point.

If we look at the second chart, the 2010 -- under the 2010 row, the revenue requirement of $4.088 million, do you see that?

MR. GRIBBON:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be -- as I understand it, that is inclusive of the revenue requirement up to and including all of 2009, plus what I would call a stub period of 2010; is that correct?

MR. GAPIC:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the rate rider that you are proposing will clear that whole amount; right?  That is the 54 cents?

MR. GAPIC:  The 54 cents will clear the first chunk of numbers, the $3,986,000 -- yeah, 3,986,000.

The second group of accounts will create an additional ongoing funding adder, and the reason why we included the element of return for 2010 that relates to 2009 is we don't have audited financials to the end of 2010.  So, therefore, we didn't include an additional year of revenue requirement in our final disposition adder for the 2009 expenditures.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the 4.088 million includes up to 2009 and these unaudited amounts for 2010?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.  Basically, the 2010 values include, I guess you could say, the life-to-date revenue requirement on all smart meter expenditures to the end of 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me how much of the $4.088 million relates to December 31st, 2009 and previous, and then I guess the other number would be the amount that is associated with 2010 by undertaking, if you wish?  But would you be able to provide us with that number?

MR. GAPIC:  Well, I could say it is in the magnitude of the values from 2014 back to 2011.  So it would be something less than the 918,431.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry?  Something -- that would be the amount for the 2010 stub, or the -- or up to the end of 2009?

MR. GAPIC:  That would be the amount just for the 2010 stub.

MR. MILLAR:  So it would be around $900,000; is that what you're saying?

MR. GAPIC:  Subject to check.  It would be something less than $918,000.  You have two components, the one component being the expenditures for 2010 year, and then of course the part that relates to pre 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  And I will tell you, just so you know where I am going with this, I understand that in a recent PowerStream decision the Board looked at actually establishing two separate rate adders.  It wasn't able to do so, because it didn't have the data, but it had some discomfort around the fact that some was audited and some was not.  Are you familiar with that decision?

MR. GAPIC:  Not that particular part of it, no.

MR. MILLAR:  And what I am trying to get from you -- I don't know if this particular Panel will be interested in going there, but a previous Panel felt that some data was lacking, so I am trying to fill out the record as best I can so that that option is at least available to them.

What I am trying to get is enough information that I would be able to calculate a stand-alone rate rider for the meters up to and including the end of 2009, and then a separate one for the stub.  Is that something that is possible to calculate, the 2010 stub?

MR. GAPIC:  I just want to make sure I understand you.

So are you talking about taking the 2010 revenue requirement, the 4,088,000, and basically splitting it between the part that relates to the new spend starting 2010 and the part that relates to the spend to the end of 2009?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.  We've got the information to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I could ask for that through an undertaking?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11: TO PROVIDE STAND-ALONE RATE RIDER FOR SMART METERS UP TO AND INCLUDING THE END OF 2009, AND SEPARATE CALCULATION FOR 2010 STUB PERIOD.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much for that.

A quick update-type question.  Could I ask you to turn to page 26 of the compendium?  This is a response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 10.  Again, it was filed before the November 8th letter.  In this case, there has actually been a somewhat more significant change on account of pulling out the capital amounts related to the green energy plan.

I am just wondering if you could refile this chart updated to include the information from the November 8th letter?

MR. GRIBBON:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That will be undertaking J1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  TO REFILE UPDATE TO CHART CONTAINED IN RESPONSE TO BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY NO. 10 TO INCLUDE INFORMATION FROM THE NOVEMBER 8, 2010 LETTER.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cheung has reminded me.  If you could turn to page 28, table 1, the rate base calculation summary, similarly, could I ask you to update that based on the information from the November 8th letter?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, we can update that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.13:  TO REFILE AN UPDATED TABLE 1 CONTAINED ON PAGE 28 OF EXHIBIT K1.5 TO INCLUDE INFORMATION FROM THE NOVEMBER 8, 2010 LETTER.

MR. MILLAR:  We are moving more quickly now.  Thank you, Ms. Conboy.  I think we are just about at the end.

Could you turn to -- I think page 38 of the compendium might be the best place.  Here you see a table 2, which I think is actually taken -- well, regardless, this is a good place to start, I think.  As part of your update that was given this morning under your examination in-chief from Mr. Engelberg, you indicated there were certain updates related to the cost of capital and to long-term debt.

I didn't get all of it down, but can I take it that this table 2 is no longer current?

MR. GRIBBON:  What we discussed this morning was to update the revenue requirement for an adjustment to short-term debt and an adjustment to the ROE based on the new cost of capital parameters.

MR. MILLAR:  So there have been no adjustments to long-term debt?

MR. GRIBBON:  At this point, we didn't anticipate any changes to long-term debt.  It was an estimate that we had as part of the rate application that was filed originally.

MR. MILLAR:  You have -- shown on this chart, there is a debt instrument that you had presumed would be issued in 2010.  Is that still likely to happen?

MR. GRIBBON:  That unfortunately won't happen this year.

MR. MILLAR:  Will that be rolled into 2011 or...

MR. GRIBBON:  According to the business plan, we had a plan of issuing up to $200 million in total debt in consideration of the 143 that is already issued.  So -- and that was based on our estimate of the 60-40 debt equity.

We would submit that we would, in all likelihood, based on our current rate base, issue debt in the neighbourhood in total of 185 million.

MR. MILLAR:  So the total of $200 million is not current?

MR. GRIBBON:  No.  Based on the current rate base, our long-term component should be in the neighbourhood of $185 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, your current or for the end of 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  For the end of 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it, then, you already have 143.  My math not being great, you are going to add another 42 million?

MR. GRIBBON:  In the neighbourhood of $42 million.

MR. MILLAR:  And I presume that will all happen in 2011?

MR. GRIBBON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You are showing a debt rate on this chart which I guess is a forecast, obviously, for 2011 debt of 6.1 -- pardon me, 6.41 percent?

MR. GRIBBON:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that still your best guess of what that number will be?

MR. GRIBBON:  It was our June 30th estimate.  There has been an update to the Board's deemed rate of --


MR. MILLAR:  Its deemed long-term debt rate?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It is almost 100 basis points lower, is it not?

MR. GRIBBON:  It is lower.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe -- are you still seeking for the Board's consideration the debt rate that you have provided in the application?

MR. GRIBBON:  We haven't proposed to change it at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  This would be the point, I guess.  So is there another point at which you anticipate you will seek a change?

MR. GRIBBON:  No.  That is our -- that was our estimate at the time, and that is the rate that we had to come up with and we haven't changed that at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think the record is clear, then, and I presume people will make whatever arguments they wish.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  That concludes my portion of the cross.  Mr. Skinner has some questions on PILs.  I think he will join me.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Skinner:

MR. SKINNER:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Duncan Skinner, Board Staff.  I have a few general questions for the panel.

Under what section of the Electricity Act is Brampton required to pay PILs?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't have the section with me, Mr. Skinner, but if you are referring to the issue of whether Brampton is in a different situation other than other LDCs because of the fact that it is a subsidiary of Hydro One Inc., it is correct that it is under a different section.

But my recollection from the generic PILs hearing is that Hydro One Brampton was asked about that at the beginning, as to whether there is any reliance by Brampton on there being any difference between it and other LDCs, and the answer given by Brampton was that there is no difference, despite the fact that the obligation originates under a different section, because both sections are worded identically.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is that helpful?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  Was Brampton a participant in the Board's deferred PILs 1562 combined proceeding, docket number EB-2008-0381?


MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, as an intervenor.

MR. SKINNER:  And as such, would you say that you are familiar with the 22 issues that have been raised in that proceeding?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  The first area of examination is the creation and collection of regulatory assets and liabilities.

I am going to be using the expression "SIMPIL" -- S-I-M-P-I-L -- which is the acronym for spreadsheet implementation model for payments in lieu of taxes.

If you could please turn to page 37 of the Staff compendium on PILs, Staff asked in an interrogatory how Brampton dealt with the tax impacts of regulatory asset and liability movements and collections of the same from 2001 to 2005 in the SIMPIL model reconciliations, and your answer was:

"Hydro One Brampton excluded regulatory assets liability movements from PILs calculations both when they were created and when they were collected, regardless of the actual tax treatment used for those amounts."

When I looked at your actual SIMPIL worksheets that you submitted in evidence, there seems to be a difference between the way the numbers appear in the schedules and the verbal answer to that interrogatory.

And I was wondering if you could tell us what Bill 4 or deferred revenue is and why you have chosen to call it a reserve.

MR. GRIBBON:  I will defer that to Mr. Gapic to answer.

MR. GAPIC:  OEB decision With Reasons December 9th, 2004, in relation to review and recovery of regulatory assets, phase 2, there is a section that highlights some of the changes and some of the government intervention that has occurred within the industry back on approximately November 11th, 2002, in relation to the creation of Bill 4 and Bill 210, which basically put a freeze on rates and basically put a freeze on recovery of regulatory assets.

That was sort of the starting point for creating some uncertainty for Hydro One Brampton in relation to recovery of certain costs, given that revenues were frozen for a time, as well as a third tranche of market-adjusted rate return was basically used to -- for CDM programs.

That created an element of uncertainty for Hydro One Brampton, also due to the fact that the recoveries in phase 1 of the regulatory asset proceeding allowed for interim recoveries only, not final disposition recoveries.

Hydro One Brampton, due to its concern with not being sure about recovery, determined that any amounts that were recovered would be treated as they weren't regulatory assets, because it wasn't sure that we would be able to keep those amounts.

If you refer -- I will refer you to OEB decision and order EB-2004-0013, dated March 11th, 2004:

"While the Board had originally intended to approve the disposal of RSVA amounts on a final basis, on analysis of the applications by distributors and the reporting of RSVA amounts in these applications, the Board has now determined that all rate changes should be interim."

When we first received that, to us "interim" meant uncertainty.  They weren't final dispositions.

Going on to decision and order EB-2005-0008, dated March 21st, 2005, similar wording was found in this decision that we would have a second instalment of the recovery of regulatory assets under the phase 1 of the recovery, and that, as well, was disposed of on an interim basis.

Moving on to decision EB-2005-0377, a decision dated April 12th, 2006, in this decision -- which is for effective rates for May 1st, 2006 -- the Board gave final disposition approval on regulatory assets, and it wasn't until this time that Hydro One Brampton's uncertainty regarding the disposition and recoveries was dealt with.  And we felt at this point our concern about non-recovery was no longer valid.

So at that point in time, the items in relation to Bill 4 in our tax returns would have been removed.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Could you please turn to page 76 of the Staff compendia?

There are other examples in the material of your application for 2004 first instalment and 2005 second instalment, but they all point essentially to the same thing.

Do you have page 76?

MR. GAPIC:  I do.

MR. SKINNER:  The RSVA balance is 11.2 million, the qualifying transition costs are 1.4 million, and all other regulatory assets were 1 .1 million.

Did Brampton apply for a minimum review on the basis that your regulatory -- or your transition costs were $12.88 per customer?

MR. GAPIC:  I will defer that question to my colleague, Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

Is the amount that is in question here, approximately $3.7 million plus interest that Brampton wants to collect from its ratepayers, for the position or opinion that the amounts that you had recovered from the first two instalments were in doubt, as opposed to fairly firm in its collection?

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.  The amount that we've calculated for this particular amount relates to amounts that weren't approved during the PILs regime.  Therefore, that's why they're part of the overall PILs true-up mechanism.

And in our case, the amount relating to Bill 4 was $3.7 million to the end of 2006, and $4.1 million to the end of 2010.

MR. SKINNER:  Were those amounts posted to account 1590?

MR. GAPIC:  In terms of how the recoveries of regulatory assets would have worked, the amounts recovered would have been posted against account 1590.

MR. SKINNER:  And how did you disclose those in your tax returns?

MR. GAPIC:  In our tax returns, they were disclosed as Bill 4 deferred revenue.

MR. SKINNER:  And what was the impact of disclosing it that way in your tax return?

MR. GAPIC:  The impact of disclosing it that way in our tax return was basically allowing for a provision which would have impacted our taxes payable.

MR. SKINNER:  So if I can interpret that, you added back the provision amount to your taxable income to increase taxable income?

MR. GAPIC:  I will defer that to my colleague, Mr. Gribbon.

MR. GRIBBON:  That's correct.  It was added to accounting income to calculate taxable income, and we paid taxes on the Bill 4 amounts, as it is being referred to.

MR. SKINNER:  But you did take a deduction in earlier years for the expense incurred; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  What we're discussing is the recovery of these amounts that didn't get approved until after the true-up period, and those amounts, we did pay the PILs on those amounts in the years that they were collected.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay, thank you.  At the top of page 76, top left-hand corner, you will see a date, August 2nd, 2005.

MR. GAPIC:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  This is pretty close to the date that Brampton would have filed its RRR SIMPIL model for the 2004 tax year, is that correct, more or less?

MR. GAPIC:  I will defer that question to Mr. Miller.

MR. MILLER:  I believe the date on the spreadsheet specifies the 2nd of August 2005, yes.  So, "yes".

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.  At the time Brampton applied for the 2006 EDR final recovery of regulatory assets on a minimum review basis, Brampton still considered collection to be doubtful when it filed its 2004 RRR SIMPIL model.

Could you please explain how these opposite points of view are reasonable within the regulatory context under which you filed?

MR. GAPIC:  In relation to the actual approval, we didn't have a decision from the Board, and until we received that decision, we felt there was uncertainty.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

Could you turn to page 82, please?  This is evidence from a Hydro One application, docket number EB-2005-0501.

Hydro One does a very nice tax section in all of their applications.  They have an explanation of their view on the bottom of page 82 and the top of page 83, and I will just read a section of it --


MR. ENGELBERG:  Excuse me, Mr. Skinner, are you referring to Hydro One Networks?

MR. SKINNER:  I have provided an example of what Hydro One Networks supplies in its evidence at page -- or pages 79 forward.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I just wanted to be clear.

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  It is a Hydro One Networks Inc. docket, and I just thought I would compare the treatment that Hydro One Networks uses with Hydro One Brampton:
"Therefore, deferral accounts have not been included in computing tax payable for the purposes of revenue requirement since the tax benefit has or will be obtained through the tax system."


And Hydro One Networks quotes the Board's 2006 EDR Handbook, and I will read a part of that quotation:
"A PILs or tax provision is not needed for the recovery of deferred regulatory asset costs, because the distributors have deducted or will deduct these costs in calculating taxable income in their returns."

And I was just curious as to whether Brampton's treatment, which seems to be different from Hydro One Networks' treatment on the same issue, is better, in its opinion?

MR. GAPIC:  Hydro One Brampton's opinion relates during the PILs 1562 regime period, between 2001 and 2005, the end of 2005, early 2006.

This particular document you are referring it to is dated September 12th, 2006 and it wouldn't necessarily consider the same set of evidence and facts that Hydro One Brampton did at the time.

MR. GRIBBON:  I would -- if I could add to that, Mr. Skinner, Hydro One Networks, to the best of my knowledge, has never completed a SIMPIL spreadsheet and been subject to the true-ups that, for lack of a better term, municipal utilities -- and I would include Brampton in that group, because we did file SIMPIL spreadsheets in those years.  Wouldn't you agree?

MR. SKINNER:  I believe that is a fair statement.  The Board's handbook was issued on May 11, 2005.  So even though the Hydro One docket was for a different rate year, it still relied on the material contained in the Board's report for 2006 EDR.

MR. GRIBBON:  Hmm-hmm.  The issue and the position that Hydro One Brampton has taken is that these amounts were not approved as a deferral account until after this true-up period.  So they were excluded from the calculation of the true-up for that reason.  And it was noted in our financial statements as such, that the amounts were not included as revenue, again, for that reason.  The collection of those amounts was not approved by the OEB until after this true-up period.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.  Can you tell us how much of your total regulatory assets were denied by the Board for that four-year period?

MR. GRIBBON:  I don't have that information in front of me.

MR. SKINNER:  Could you take an undertaking to provide it to us, please?

MR. ENGELBERG:  With respect, Mr. Skinner, I don't see how that information would be helpful to the issue at hand.

MR. SKINNER:  I think it would be reasonable that if nothing had been denied or very little had been denied, that there would have been very little doubt through the period.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In my submission, respectfully, one can't draw that conclusion one way or the other, regardless of the answer.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just make a comment on that?

MS. CONBOY:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is information that is readily available to the applicant.  It would seem to me it doesn't hurt to have it, even if at the end of the day it turns out not to be necessary.

MS. CONBOY:  We were just about to come to the same conclusion.  Thank you.

So perhaps if the applicant could undertake to provide that information, and then we can make an assessment after we have seen it?

MR. MILLAR:  J1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.14:  TO PROVIDE ANSWER AS TO TOTAL AMOUNT OF REGULATORY ASSETS THAT WERE DENIED BY THE BOARD FOR THE 2001 TO 2005.

MR. SKINNER:  For the period 2001 through 2005, did Brampton collect more PILs from ratepayers than it paid to the government?

MR. GRIBBON:  I believe that was a question in one of the IRs, and I believe we're already on record with that answer.

However, that was never the intent of the PILs true-up mechanism, to compare amounts collected from customers with amounts paid to the government.

MR. SKINNER:  But are you saying you agree you did collect more from your customers than you paid to the government?

MR. GRIBBON:  Do you have it?  I will give that to Mr. Gapic.  I think he has the reference.

MR. GAPIC:  Reference would be Board Staff technical conference question 13 relating to Board staff IR No. 65.

And there was a calculation done to show the amounts, collected versus paid, and the amounts collected were greater than the amounts paid by approximately $3 million to the end of 2005.  And in this particular table, we don't have a breakout of the portion that relates to the first four months of 2006.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

The next area of interrogation is the interest expense claw-back.

I won't have you turn to the pages, but there is information in the Staff compendium at page 119, which is a balance sheet analysis for many years; there's SEC Interrogatory No. 40 that you replied to at page 120; and your own evidence that starts at page 123, just in case we have to refer to them.

It describes how $60 million of goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Brampton by Hydro One was a major driver of the higher interest expense.

You may have already answered this question in a different way, but I will pose it again.

Did Brampton pay lower PILs because of higher interest expense deduction?

MR. GRIBBON:  Sorry, could you repeat that, Mr. Skinner?

MR. SKINNER:  Did Brampton pay lower PILs because of the higher interest expense deduction?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  And I believe you've answered the affirmative to the next question, but I will ask it.

Has the interest claw-back methodology existed in the RRR SIMPIL models since 2002?

MR. GRIBBON:  Yes, it has.  And our debt was issued prior to when the SIMPIL model first was introduced.

MR. SKINNER:  How much, approximately, is the amount that you would like the Board to exclude in the determination of your 1562 balance?

MR. GAPIC:  The amount we would like to get recovery on or not dispose of is $4.3 million.

MR. SKINNER:  Is that the entire amount?  Or is that just part of the amount?

MR. GAPIC:  In relation to the interest claw-back alone, to the end of 2010, that is the amount, $4.3 million.

MR. SKINNER:  And recognizing that the methodology has been part of the Board's process and recognizing that you don't consider yourself any different than a section 93 utility, could you please explain why the Board should change its methodology for Brampton to the extent that you are requesting?

MR. GAPIC:  We believe in the methodology that was used, certain circumstances and situations weren't really looked at.  It was a generic model used to -- for all utilities to do their true-up calculations.

In Hydro One Brampton's case, this model created unintended consequences, and in this case it prevented Hydro One Brampton from raising additional capital and changing our capital structure in order to run our business.

When a utility, or a company, for that matter, looks at its own capital structure, it does it for business reasons.  What the PILs true-up methodology did was it basically froze or held the capital structure constant at 1999 levels, granted approval for rates, which then would be used for additional capital funding and operating programs, and now that the true-up mechanism basically removes a benefit that relates to interest expense, it is penalizing a utility for prudently managing its capital, its infrastructure investments and running its business.

In addition, Hydro One Brampton is a high-growth distributor.  Hydro One Brampton has had 44 percent increase in customer counts since -- that would be from the period of 2002 to 2008.  That is not quite the same, but this is the information I was able to get readily, 44 percent.

And when reviewing the yearbook statistics for utilities across the province, Hydro One Brampton is in the top three fastest growing utilities in two different categories.

One is in percentage terms.  Hydro One Brampton has grown by a 34.4 percent during that period, which is the second-fastest or second-highest percentage growth in the province.

In addition, looking at the absolute number of customers increased, Hydro One Brampton has placed in the third spot in terms of customer growth with growth of 33,183 customers.

And Hydro One Brampton is the only distributor in the province that actually can be categorized in the top 3 in both of these categories.

The significance of customer growth of 44 percent is that Hydro One Brampton had to make significant investment.  Many new customers were added during this time.  Hydro One Brampton needed the capital, needed the funds to do this, and took advantage of the distribution rates incremental revenue as a result of adding additional customers.

Hydro One Brampton needed the full incremental revenue for this growth.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

MR. GAPIC:  Just something further to add.

In relation to what Hydro One Brampton believes is a shortcoming in the model -- perhaps maybe not a shortcoming to everybody, but in Hydro One Brampton's case, at least, it is a shortcoming -- the OEB has recognized this shortcoming, and in the Board Report for the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, dated May the 11th, 2005, the Board recognized this limitation, and stated that:

"For purposes of 2006, the Board will continue the current treatment, but refine it such that the tax calculation will be based on the greater of the deemed and actual 2004 interest expense."

Clearly, the Board has recognized this deficiency.

Although this is for the 2006 rate regime period, Hydro One Brampton feels it is relevant to bring this up now, because there were unintended consequences in the previous regime through the 1562 PILs claw-back, and Hydro One Brampton feels strongly that it has been treated unfairly with regard to this adjustment.

MR. SKINNER:  In answer to some interrogatories, I think you identified the goodwill as a major driver for the increased interest expense; is that correct?

MR. GAPIC:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. SKINNER:  In some of your answers to interrogatories -- I believe both Board Staff and SEC -- you identified the goodwill of $60 million as one of the primary drivers for the increased interest expense; is that correct?

MR. GRIBBON:  That is correct.  The goodwill was considered, and the goodwill rests on the balance sheet, not for regulatory purposes.  The goodwill was considered in the original setup of the 55/45 debt equity split on the balance sheet.

MR. SKINNER:  In 2009, in your evidence you showed that you wrote off the $60 million of goodwill.  Did that have any impact on your capital structure?

MR. GRIBBON:  By 2009, we had moved to a 60/40 debt equity ratio, and our rate base has grown significantly.  Our current debt levels are below the deemed debt levels, which we will bring back in line in 2011.

I would add to Mr. Gapic's comments that -- and with respect to the goodwill contribution to this, there was absolutely no customer impact of this added debt or debt levels different than the deemed debt levels.

There was no customer impact.  Rates were not impacted.  No customers paid more because of it.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Skinner.

We are at 10 after 4:00.  And despite the fact that I think Mr. Rubenstein said he had just a short cross, it is probably a good time to break for the day and give our witnesses a break.  So we are going to break now until 9:30 tomorrow morning.

Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Rubenstein, you have the benefit of being able to read the transcripts overnight, so I urge you to do so and make sure that we don't go over questions that we have already heard today, and focus our examination.

Mr. Engelberg, you will remind your clients that they are under oath until tomorrow, please.

Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.
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